## HUMAN MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

## EXPRESS A MYOFIBROBLASTIC PHENOTYPE IN VITRO

BY

### **MELANIE ALLISON NGO**

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

### **MASTER OF SCIENCE**

Department of Physiology Faculty of Medicine University of Manitoba Winnipeg, MB

Copyright © 2011

# FOR THE THREE ANGELS IN MY LIFE

## MOM, AUNTIE DARLENE & CHAU

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to acknowledge my supervisors Dr. Darren Freed and Dr. Rakesh Arora for their mentorship, encouragement, and support. Darren, thank you for continuously pushing me to reach my potential, and for teaching me the meaning of working smarter, not harder. To Rakesh, thank you for always believing in me and keeping me on my toes. I am very grateful to the both of you for the opportunities that I have received, and for the experiences that I have gained throughout my training.

I would also like to acknowledge the support of my advisory committee: Dr. Ian Dixon, Dr. Paul Fernyhough, and Dr. Jeffrey Wigle. Thank you for your commitment, your guidance, your stimulating scientific discussions, your motivation to make me think critically, and your willingness to help me over the past few years. Your dedication and passion to research has truly inspired me.

Thank you to my lab colleagues who have become my second family. To Yun Li, Shannon Neumann and Melanie Durston, thank you for always being there for me, through the good times and bad times. I have the fondest memories of each of you and will forever cherish each of our friendships.

Finally, I'd like to thank my mom, my aunt Darlene and my cousin Chau, who have supported me throughout my studies. Your unconditional love, patience, understanding and encouragement have helped me through some of the most difficult times and I couldn't have done this without you guys.

#### ABSTRACT

There is emerging evidence to suggest that cardiac myofibroblasts (CMyfbs) participating in cardiac fibrosis represent a heterogeneous population in origin. We hypothesized that bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) readily adopt a myofibroblastic phenotype in culture.

We assessed and compared human primary MSCs and human CMyfbs with respect to their phenotypic and functional characteristics by examining their gene expression profile, ability to contract collagen gels, and ability to synthesize collagen. We also examined the role of non-muscle myosin II (NMMII) in modulating the myofibroblast function using siRNA and blebbistatin to inhibit NMMII activity.

The data revealed that MSCs adopt a myofibroblastic phenotype in culture and demonstrate the capability to contract collagen gels and synthesize collagen similar to human CMyfbs. Inhibition of NMMII activity with blebbistatin completely inhibits gel contractility without affecting cell viability. Thus, MSCs exhibit similar physiological and functional characteristics as CMyfbs, and may contribute to cardiac fibrosis.

| De | edica | ationii                             |
|----|-------|-------------------------------------|
| A  | ekno  | wledgements                         |
| Al | ostra | activ                               |
| T٤ | ıble  | of Contentsv                        |
| Li | st of | f Tables                            |
| Li | st of | f Figuresix                         |
| Li | st of | f Abbreviationsxi                   |
| I. | Re    | VIEW OF THE LITERATURE              |
|    | 1.    | Cardiac fibrosis1                   |
|    | 2.    | Myofibroblasts                      |
|    |       | 2.1. Origin                         |
|    |       | 2.2. Function                       |
|    | 3.    | Mesenchymal stem cells              |
|    |       | 3.1. Origin                         |
|    |       | 3.2. Therapeutic potential          |
|    |       | 3.3. Plasticity and differentiation |
|    | 4.    | Actin-myosin cytoskeleton           |
|    | 5.    | Function of non-muscle myosin II11  |
|    | 6.    | Rationale for study14               |

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| II. | Μ   | ATERIALS AND METHODS                                 | .17 |
|-----|-----|--|-----|
|     | 1.  | Isolation and culture of human MSCs and human CMyfbs | .17 |
|     | 2.  | Differentiation of MSCs                              | .18 |
|     |     | 2.1 Adipogenesis                                     | 18  |
|     |     | 2.2 Osteogenesis                                     | .19 |
|     |     | 2.3 Chondrogenesis                                   | 19  |
|     | 3.  | Immunofluorescence                                   | .19 |
|     | 4.  | Fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis         | 20  |
|     | 5.  | Immunoblot analysis                                  | 20  |
|     | 6.  | Real-time PCR Analysis                               | .21 |
|     |     | 6.1 RNA extraction                                   |     |
|     |     | 6.2 Real-time PCR                                    | .22 |
|     | 7.  | Inhibition of NMMII                                  | .22 |
|     |     | 7.1 Blebbistatin administration                      | .22 |
|     |     | 7.2 Knockdown of NMMII siRNA                         | 22  |
|     | 8.  | Collagen gel contraction assay                       | 23  |
|     | 9.  | Measurement of type I collagen synthesis             | .24 |
|     | 10  | Live dead assay                                      | .25 |
|     | 11. | Reagents   | .25 |
|     | 12  | Antibodies   | 27  |
|     | 13  | . Statistical analysis                               | 27  |

| III. RESULTS                        |  |     |
|-------------------------------------|--|-----|
| 1.                                  | Human MSCs functionally express a myofibroblastic phenotype in vitro             | 29  |
|                                     | 1.1. Phenotypic characterization of human MSCs                                   | 29  |
|                                     | 1.2. Functional characterization of human MSCS                                   | 37  |
| 2.                                  | Myosin expression in hMSCs   | 42  |
| 3.                                  | Effect of NMMII inhibition on hMSC phenotype                                     | .43 |
|                                     | 3.1. Blebbistatin  | 43  |
|                                     | 3.2. siRNA knockdown   | .45 |
| 4.                                  | Effect of NMMII inhibition on gel contractility                                  | 50  |
| 5.                                  | Effect of NMMII inhibition on cell viability                                     | 53  |
|                                     |  |     |
| IV. DISCUSSION                      |  |     |
| 1.                                  | Significance of standard cell culture conditions in stimulating acquisition of a |     |
|                                     | myofibroblast phenotype by human MSCs in vitro                                   | 54  |
| 2.                                  | Significance of NMMII inhibition on adoptive myofibroblast phenotype and         |     |
|                                     | function   | 59  |
|                                     |  |     |
| V. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS |  |     |
|                                     |  |     |
|                                     |  |     |

## List of Tables

| Table 1: Primer sequences                            | 28 |
|--|----|
| Table 2: Gene and protein names                      | 28 |
| Table 3: On-target SMART pool siRNA target sequences | 28 |

# List of Figures

| Figure 1:  | In vitro differentiation of hMSCs                                       | 30  |
|------------|---|-----|
| Figure 2:  | hMSCs display similar morphology to their cardiac derived               |     |
|            | myofibroblasts  | 31  |
| Figure 3:  | Bone marrow derived hMSCs display myofibroblast markers                 | 33  |
| Figure 4:  | Early passage hMSCs express myofibroblast proteins                      | 35  |
| Figure 5:  | Early passage hMSCs express myofibroblast mRNA                          | 36  |
| Figure 6:  | hMSCs contract collagen gels to a similar degree as CMyfbs and disp     | lay |
|            | TGF-β1 responsiveness   | 38  |
| Figure 7:  | hMSCs display increased contractility under serum free conditions       | 39  |
| Figure 8:  | hMSCs synthesize mature collagen type I independently of TGF- $\beta$ 1 |     |
|            | stimulation   | 41  |
| Figure 9:  | Myosin expression in hMSCs and CMyfbs                                   | 42  |
| Figure 10: | Chronic NMMII inhibition with blebbistatin alters expression of         |     |
|            | myofibroblast markers over serial passage                               | 44  |
| Figure 11: | NMMIIA and IIB siRNA knockdown is efficient and specific                | 46  |
| Figure 12: | NMMIIA and IIB protein knockdown expression is stable over 96           |     |
|            | hours   | 48  |

| Figure 13: | Inhibition of NMMII alters $\alpha$ -SMA and F-actin organization        | 49 |
|------------|--|----|
| Figure 14: | NMMII inhibition with blebbistatin reduces gel contractility in          |    |
|            | hMSCs  | 51 |
| Figure 15: | Inhibition of NMMII with blebbistatin reduces collagen gel contractility | ,  |
|            | greater than NMMII specific isoform knockdown                            | 52 |
| Figure 16: | Inhibition of NMMII does not affect cell viability                       | 53 |

## List of Abbreviations

| α-SMA  | alpha-smooth muscle actin                    |
|--------|--|
| ADP    | adenosine diphosphate                        |
| ANOVA  | analysis of variance                         |
| ATP    | adenosine triphosphate                       |
| BB     | blebbistatin                                 |
| BCA    | bicinchoninic acid                           |
| BM-MSC | bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells   |
| BSA    | bovine serum albumin                         |
| CICP   | carboxyterminal propeptide of type I collage |
| CMyfb  | cardiac myofibroblast                        |
| DMEM   | Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium           |
| DNA    | deoxyribonucleic acid                        |
| ECL    | enhanced chemiluminescence                   |
| ECM    | extracellular matrix                         |
| ED-A   | extra domain A                               |
| EDTA   | ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid            |

EGTA ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid FACS fluorescence-activated cell sorting FBS fetal bovine serum hCMyfb human cardiac myofibroblast human mesenchymal stem cell hMSC myocardial infarction MI messenger ribonucleic acid mRNA mesenchymal stem cell MSC NMMII non-muscle myosin II PAGE polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis PBS phosphate buffered saline paraformaldehyde PFA RIPA radioimmunoprecipitation assay RNA ribonucleic acid rotations per minute rpm real-time polymerase chain reaction RT-PCR SEM standard error mean

- SMM smooth muscle myosin
- TGF- $\beta$ 1 transforming growth factor beta<sub>1</sub>

#### I. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### 1. Cardiac fibrosis

Heart failure is a frequent complication of myocardial infarction (MI) that is associated with adverse ventricular remodelling (Katz, 1995). The progression of heart failure occurs as a result of loss of ventricular muscle and the subsequent architectural alterations in both infarcted and noninfarcted areas, leading to reduced ventricular function (systolic and diastolic) and increased ventricular wall stress (Tomasek et al., 2002). In order to compensate, the injured heart adapts with increased ventricular mass (myocyte hypertrophy) and ventricular dilatation (Edgley et al., 2010). The ability of the adult heart to regenerate new, fully functional muscle is limited, and thus wound healing consists primarily of a fibrotic response. Myocardial healing and the development of fibrosis is a complex process that is multifactorial and involves an intricate interplay between several cell types, including inflammatory cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts and myofibroblasts (van den Borne et al., 2010). Wound healing occurs in three overlapping phases: inflammation, proliferation and remodeling. In the inflammatory phase, local release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages to the injured area, remove debris, pathogens and necrotic myocytes from the host tissue (Midwood et al., 2004). During the proliferative phase, fibroblasts deposit collagen in the injured area, granulation tissue is formed, endothelial cells promote angiogenesis and myofibroblasts contract the wound (Midwood et al., 2004). Tissue remodeling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) occurs and cells that are no longer needed are removed by apoptosis.

In the normal heart, there is a dynamic balance that exists between collagen deposition by fibroblasts and collagen degradation by matrix metalloproteinases (Edgley et al., 2010). In the injured heart, however, cardiac fibrosis occurs when the regulation of both ECM synthesis and degradation is disrupted, leading to an excess deposit of collagen fibers (type I and type III) with an increased degree of cross-linking of collagen fibers (van den Borne et al., 2010).

Maintaining the ECM in the scar is essential and can prevent dilation of the infarct area leading to heart failure. However, maladaptive ECM deposition at sites remote from the infarct area can lead to cardiac stiffness and provide the basis for the development of heart failure (van den Borne et al., 2010). Excessive accumulation of collagen within the ECM in the heart leads to increased stiffness of the myocardium that can impair ventricular diastolic relaxation (Swynghedauw, 1999). Moreover, by altering the cellular architecture of the ECM and cell-cell connections between myocytes, electrical conductance is interrupted, resulting in arrhythmias (Weber et al., 1994). Heterogeneity of the myocardium due to cardiac fibrosis may also affect systolic function (Wolk et al., 1999).

There are two types of pathological fibrosis: reactive fibrosis and reparative fibrosis. Reactive fibrosis occurs in response to loss of myocardial tissue due to myocyte death, whereas reparative fibrosis occurs in response to the inflammatory processes that accompany tissue injury (Swynghedauw, 1999; Beltrami et al., 1994; Anderson et al., 1979). Following acute MI, reactive fibrosis in the infarcted region is crucial to maintain structural integrity of the myocardium, but is also accompanied by reparative fibrosis both in the infarcted region and the remaining viable myocardium (Edgley et al., 2010). Thus, pathological cardiac hypertrophy is associated with interstitial and perivascular fibrosis in the heart.

### 2. Myofibroblasts

#### 2.1 Origin

The key cell mediators in myocardial fibrosis are cardiac myofibroblasts that are contractile and hypersecretory cells. There are no reports of myofibroblast activity in the healthy, uninjured heart (Porter and Turner, 2009). Cardiac interstitial fibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts upon activation following injury and subsequently migrate to the infarct area where they participate in scar formation and ECM remodeling, and are capable of persisting for many years after infarction (van den Borne et al., 2010). In addition to this pool of cells, there is evidence to suggest that myofibroblasts may also be derived from blood-borne mesenchymal stem cell progenitors (fibrocytes), epithelial cells, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells (van den Borne et al., 2010; van Amerongen et al., 2008; Mollmann et al., 2006; Haudek et al., 2006).

Bucala et al. characterized a population of circulating cells with fibroblast properties (termed "fibrocyte") that mobilize to sites of tissue injury and contribute to scar formation. Using sex-mismatched bone marrow chimeric mice, they showed that fibrocytes (collagen+/vimentin+/CD34+) were present in connective tissue scar, and were readily identified in subcutaneously implanted wound chambers (Bucala et al., 1994). Correspondingly, Mollmann et al. transplanted bone marrow from enhanced green fluorescent protein (eGFP)-transgenic mice into sublethally irradiated mice and showed

that 57.4% of myofibroblasts (detected by costaining with  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin and vimentin) were eGFP-positive in the infarct zone. Meanwhile, eGFP positive myofibroblasts were absent in the remote areas (Mollmann et al., 2006).

Using transgenic mice, Duan and colleagues showed that following acute cardiac injury, the epicardium becomes Wnt responsive and undergoes epithelial-mesenchymal transition to generate fibroblasts that localize in the subepicardial space and promote a pro-fibrotic response (Duan et al., 2011). Zeisberg et al. used Tiel1Cre:R26RstoplacZ mice which display lacZ expression in cells of endothelial origin, and FSP1-GFP transgenic mice which expressed GFP under the control of the fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1) promoter. Using these two independent mouse models of heart disease, this group was able to show that TGF- $\beta$ 1 induced endothelial-mesenchymal transition in adult human coronary endothelial cells, thus contributing to the total pool of cardiac fibroblasts and could be inhibited by rhBMP-7 (Zeisberg et al., 2007).

Myofibroblasts of different origins along with resident cardiac myofibroblasts are thought to participate together in repairing the injured heart, however, the relative contribution of each of these populations remains largely unknown (van den Borne et al., 2010). Myofibroblasts may be isolated from a number of different organs and although they all participate in tissue fibrosis, it is unlikely that myofibroblasts from different origins will behave in precisely the same way (Chang et al., 2002).

#### 2.2 Function

Mainly differentiated from fibroblasts, myofibroblasts express contractile proteins and exhibit migratory, proliferative and secretory properties (van den Borne et al., 2010). In contrast, cardiac fibroblasts do not possess contractile microfilaments or stress fibers, display few or no actin-associated cell-cell and cell-matrix contacts and produce little ECM (Tomasek et al., 2002). Myofibroblast differentiation is a two-step process and requires the actions of transforming growth factor beta-1(TGF- $\beta$ 1), specialized ECM molecules such as the ED-A splice variant of fibronectin, and a mechanically stressed environment (Tomasek et al., 2002; Hinz and Gabbiani, 2003). In the initial step, under mechanical stress, fibroblasts adopt a proto-myofibroblast phenotype and form actincontaining stress fibers that terminate in fibronexus, a specialized adhesion complex that links intracellular actin with the ECM, and express cellular fibronectin at the cell surface (Tomasek et al., 2002). Functionally, proto-myofibroblasts can generate contractile force, which is further amplified in the mature myofibroblast. In the second step, protomyofibroblasts differentiate into myofibroblasts, a process that is characterized by the increased expression of ED-A fibronectin (via TGF- $\beta$ 1 stimulation), expression of  $\alpha$ smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), and increased assembly and complexity of stress fibers and focal adhesions (Tomasek et al., 2002).

The most studied marker of the differentiated myofibroblast is the *de novo* expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA, the actin isoform that is also found in smooth muscle cells (Hinz and Gabbiani, 2003). Expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA confers at least a twofold stronger contractile activity compared to undifferentiated fibroblasts in culture (Hinz et al., 2001). Unlike

smooth cells, myofibroblasts are usually negative for desmin, smooth muscle myosin heavy chain, h-caldesmon, and smoothelin (Schurch et al., 2007).

The nature of the contraction generated by the myofibroblasts is fundamentally distinct from that generated by cardiomyocytes. Myofibroblasts typically generate a sustained tonic contraction resembling that of smooth muscle cells that is regulated by circulating factors and neurohormones (Tomasek et al., 2002). By contrast, cardiomyocytes contract and relax cyclically upon electrical activation (Tomasek et al., 2002).

#### 3. Mesenchymal stem cells

#### 3.1 Origin

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), otherwise known as 'mesenchymal stromal cells', are a rare, non-hematopoietic cell population that can be isolated from a number of different sources. Although the primary source of MSCs is the bone marrow, there has been numerous reports showing that these cells can also be isolated from several cell sources such as adipose tissue, umbilical cord blood, peripheral blood, connective tissues of the dermis and skeletal muscle, as well as from the heart, liver and other organs and tissues (Pittenger et al., 1999; Zuk et al., 2001; Bieback et al., 2004, Kuznetsov et al., 2001; Jiang et al., 2002; Beltrami et al., 2007). The International Society for Cellular Therapy defines human MSCs based on the following three criteria: (1) adherence to plastic in standard culture conditions, (2) specific surface antigen expression and (3) *in* 

*vitro* differentiation to the osteoblast, adipocyte and chondroblast lineages (Dominici et al., 2006).

#### 3.2 Therapeutic potential

In an effort to promote myocardial regeneration and improve ventricular function after ischemic injury, stem cell based therapy has been proposed as an alternative treatment strategy for end-stage heart failure (Boyle et al., 2006). Specifically, human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) are attractive candidates for cellular cardiomyoplasty and other tissue regeneration, because they offer several practical advantages. Human MSCs are easily isolated and expanded in culture, are less immunogenic than other cell lines, and retain growth and multilineage potential over several passages (Muraglia et al., 2000; Pittenger et al., 1999). In addition, MSCs have been shown to possess antiapoptotic, anti-fibrotic and proangiogenic features (Li et al., 2007; Mias et al., 2009; Kasper et al., 2007). Early clinical and basic study evidence for the therapeutic use of hMSCs in cardiac regeneration has suggested that these cells are safe and feasible to use in treating heart failure (Van Linthout et al., 2011; Chen et al., 2004; Hare et al., 2009; Katritsis et al., 2005; Schuleri et al., 2007; Hou et al., 2007; Nesselmann et al., 2008). However, results from these studies indicate that the benefits of stem cell therapy are modest, the generation of new cardiac tissue is limited, and the predominant mechanisms of action of these transplanted cells appear to involve favorable paracrine effects on the injured myocardium rather than functional trans-differentiation into cardiomyocytes (van den Borne et al., 2010).

Toma and colleagues reported that only 0.44% of human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) transfected with β-galactosidase reporter gene and injected into immunodeficient adult mouse hearts were identified in the myocardium, and that these cells had adopted a morphology indistinguishable from host cardiomyocytes (Toma et al., 2002). In a study using the porcine experimental model, Quevedo *et al.* injected male BM-MSCs into female swine and reported differentiation of these cells into cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, and endothelium cells. However, cardiomyocyte differentiation was present in only 14% of engrafted BM-MSCs (Quevedo et al., 2009). In another study, Silva and colleagues, using a canine model, reported that canine MSCs engraft and differentiate into cells with a vascular phenotype but did not differentiate into functional cardiomyocytes (Silva et al., 2005). One plausible explanation for the observed limited trans-differentiation of hMSCs into functional cardiomyocytes could be attributed to the acquisition of a phenotype in culture that does not support further differentiation into cardiomyocytes.

#### 3.3 Plasticity and differentiation

Human MSCs represent a heterogeneous population and its differentiation can be influenced by its origin, culture conditions and its microenvironment. MSCs residing in different tissues may already be primed to differentiate towards a specific lineage to form tissue specific cell types (Nesselmann et al., 2008). In fact, it has been reported that the differentiation potential and functions vary among MSCs isolated from different sources (Kern et al., 2006; Wagner and Ho, 2007; Wagner et al., 2006). Kern and colleagues characterized and compared MSCs isolated from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood and adipose tissue. While MSCs from all three sources shared typical MSC characteristics, they differed significantly in their expression of CD90, CD105, and CD106, cell surface markers associated with hematopoiesis and cell migration (Kern et al., 2006). Moreover, MSCs derived from umbilical cord blood did not differentiate to the adipogenic lineage. In another similar study, Sakaguchi and colleagues compared the properties of patient-matched human MSCs isolated from bone marrow, synovium, periosteum, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue and found differences in colony number, self-renewal capacity, expansion ability, and ability to differentiate to the adipogenic and chondrogenic lineages (Sakaguchi et al., 2005).

The plasticity of MSCs to differentiate to specific lineages by soluble stimuli has been well described (Gang et al., 2004; McBeath et al., 2004; Pittenger et al., 1999). In addition to differentiating into osteoblast, adipocytes and chondrocytes, MSCs can also be induced to differentiate *in vitro* into cardiomyocytes (when treated with 5-azacytidine and amphotericin B) as well as neuron-like cells (Wakitani et al., 1995; Woodbury et al., 2000). Wagner et al. studied the effects of two different expansion media, BM-MSC-M1 and BM-MSC-M2 on human mesenchymal stem cells isolated from bone marrow (Wagner et al., 2006). They reported significant differences in terms of predisposition to specific differentiation pathways, genomic and proteomic make-up, and cell morphology (Wagner et al., 2006). Genes regulating metabolism and mitochondria were more highly expressed in BM-MSC-M1 whereas genes involved in muscle development, actin binding, neurogenesis, cell differentiation, morphogenesis, skeletal development, and development were more highly expressed in BM-MSC-M2 and these cells were more committed towards myogenic differentiation (Wagner et al., 2006).

It has also been shown that MSCs display great sensitivity to tissue-level elasticity when committing to specific phenotypes (Engler et al., 2006). Forces generated and imposed on the cell's cytoskeleton from their microenvironment are central to predicting differentiation (Engler et al., 2004; Hinz et al., 2001; McBeath et al., 2004). In particular, matrix elasticity is now known to strongly influence the lineage specification of human MSCs (Engler et al., 2006). Human MSCs that were plated on soft matrices adopted a neurogenic phenotype, while cells grown on stiffer matrices were myogenic, and increasing elasticity resulted in osteogenic cells (Engler et al., 2006). This group also showed that matrix elasticity was more selective in driving differentiation than soluble induction factors, thus suggesting that optimization of the matrix elasticity is important in fostering tissue regeneration (Engler et al., 2006).

#### 4. Actin-myosin cytoskeleton

Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts are able to sense their surrounding microenvironment through both indirect stresses from nearby fibroblasts pulling on the collagen matrix, and from direct cell-cell interactions (Bond et al., 2010). Non-muscle myosins are involved in tensioning cortical actin structures, which are in turn linked to focal adhesions that act as mechano-transducers by transmitting the force from inside the cell to the surrounding ECM (Kim et al., 2005; McBeath et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2002; Beningo et al., 2001; Tamada et al., 2004). Cellular mechano-transduction process generates biochemical

signals, which then signal to the cell to adjust the cytoskeletal structure, and activate actin-myosin contractility needed to deform the matrix (Engler et al., 2006; Bond et al., 2010).

The actin-myosin cytoskeleton is a dynamic system that is needed for various cellular functions, including contraction, motility, and tissue organization (Evan-Ram et al., 2007; Ivanov, 2008; Ivanov et al., 2007; Montell, 2008). The contractile apparatus consists of actin microfilaments, non-muscle myosin heavy chains and bundles of specialized adhesion complexes (Tomasek et al., 2002). Cell contraction requires the hydrolysis of ATP to generate energy needed to slide the non-muscle myosin along the actin filaments. Phosphorylation of the non-muscle myosin light chains through kinases such as Rhoassociated kinase or myosin light chain kinase, covert the myosin into an active form, allowing it to bind to actin and facilitate contractility (Quintin et al., 2008; Tyska and Warshaw, 2002; Sellers and Knight, 2007). Regulation of actin-myosin contraction forces and opposing anchoring forces are crucial to maintaining normal cell morphology and function (Lecuit and Lenne, 2007; Montell, 2008; Okeyo et al., 2008). Disruption of this balance can lead to cell death, as seen in human pluripotent stem cells and embryonic stem cells (Ohgushi et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010).

#### 5. Function of non-muscle myosin II

Non-muscle myosin II (NMMII) is a protein found in both fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. This protein is composed of two heavy chains, two essential light chains, and two regulatory light chains (Vicente-Manzanares et al., 2009). Its activation via

phosphorylation is the end target of many contractile signaling pathways, and thus plays a pivotal role in many cellular processes that require force and translocation, including cell adhesion, cell migration and cell contraction (Vicente-Manzanares et al., 2009; Even-Ram et al., 2007; Meshel et al., 2005; Abe et al., 2003).

Three isoforms of non-muscle myosin II exist in human, NMMIIA, IIB and IIC. The human genes MYH9, MYH10 and MYH14 encode for NMMIIA, IIB, and IIC respectively. All three isoforms are well conserved and display great homology (Golomb et al., 2004; Simons et al., 1991). However, differences in their enzyme kinetics, subcellular localization and tissue expression, allow them to have distinct functions within the same cell (Flynn and Helfman, 2010; Kovacs et al., 2003; Tullio et al., 1997; Conti et al., 2004).

In human scar tissue, NMMIIA and IIB were highly expressed throughout the remodeling phase of wound repair and contraction of collagen lattices was greater in scar fibroblasts compared to normal fibroblasts (Bond et al., 2010). *In vitro* kinematic studies have shown that NMMIIA probably has a role in rapid contractility, whereas NMMIIB is more likely to maintain isometric tension since it spends a longer time being strongly attached to actin (Wylie and Chantler, 2001; Wylie et al., 1998, Saitoh et al., 2001; Lo et al., 2004; Rosenfeld et al., 2003). In one study, NMMIIB expression in MSCs was shown to be more sensitive to matrix elasticity than NMMIIA expression (Engler et al., 2006). In contrast, Bond et al. observed greater NMMIIA expression in fibroblasts with increasing matrix stiffness (Bond et al., 2010). Both studies suggest that as matrix stiffness increases, NMMII expression is altered in order to generate greater forces on the ECM, and as a result, greater contractility occurs. In addition, NMMIIA is functionally

different than NMM IIB as it is involved in Rho-dependent function, actin stress fiber formation and focal adhesion formation, but IIB is not (Conti et al., 2004; Lo et al., 2004; Sandquist et al., 2006).

There have been several reports that show NMMII regulates cell survival, and that actin-myosin contractility is associated with reduced viability (Walker et al., 2010; Chen et al., 2010; Ohgushi et al., 2010; Flynn and Helfman, 2010). One group reported that knockdown of NMMIIB but not IIA in HeLa cells, impaired caspase 3 cleavage and nuclear condensation in response to TNF-alpha (Flynn and Helfman, 2010). In another study, inhibition of myosin heavy chain ATPase, and downregulation of both myosin heavy and light chains all increased survival and cloning efficiency in human embryonic stem cells, thus showing that actin-myosin contraction is critical in elucidating the cell death response (Chen et al., 2010). Moreover, mutations and deletions in the various NMMII genes have been linked to human diseases, such as autosomal dominant hearing loss, and defects in embryonic patterning, and heart and brain development in mice (Donaudy et al., 2004; Marini et al., 2006; Conti et al., 2004; Tullio et al., 1997).

Blebbistatin (BB), a small molecule drug, inhibits all NMMII isoforms, but does not inhibit other myosins found in MSCs, other than myosin VI (Limouze et al., 2004). Blebbistatin works by inhibiting the actin-activated ATPase activity by preventing the release of inorganic phosphate from ADP and requires a specific alanine or serine residue only expressed in class II and VI myosins (Kovacs et al., 2004; Limouze et al., 2004; Straight et al., 2003). This inhibition disrupts NMMII's association with actin, leading to destabilization of the actin cytoskeleton (Flynn and Helfman, 2010). Blebbistatin is cell permeable and its effects are reversible upon removal of the drug from cell culture media.

#### 6. Rationale for study

Mesenchymal stem cells were first identified as colony-forming unit fibroblastlike cells in the 1970s and have previously been compared to fibroblasts with respect to gross cell morphology and growth patterns in culture (Friedenstein et al., 1976). Gene expression profiles used to define various types of cell cultures as MSCs are also expressed by cultures of fibroblastic cells from any tissue (Covas et al., 2008; Bianco et al., 2008). Covas et al. compared morphologically and functionally human MSCs isolated from several different fetal and adult tissues to that of fibroblasts isolated from 4 different sources. Human MSCs and fibroblasts were found to be similar in regards to morphology, immunophenotype, and differentiation capacity (Covas et al., 2008). Both MSCs and fibroblasts displayed large nuclei with prominent nucleoli, abundant rough endoplasmic reticulum, and numerous mitochondria. Moreover, only three of the four fibroblasts cultures could be induced to differentiate (Covas et al., 2008). Wagnar and Ho showed that human fibroblast cell lines (HS68 and NHDF) displayed an identical phenotype panel of 22 CD surface markers used to identify MSCs (Wagner and Ho, 2007). In another study, Ball and colleagues directly co-cultured human MSCs with human dermal fibroblasts and demonstrated that MSCs induced fibroblast to myofibroblast cells with well-organized  $\alpha$ -SMA filaments, thus suggesting that resident tissue cells are key players in determining the fate of recruited MSCs (Ball et al., 2004).

However, direct comparison of primary human adult BM-MSCs and human cardiac myofibroblasts has not previously been reported. Specifically, a functional comparison between the two cell types in regards to contractility and collagen synthesis does not appear in the literature and is therefore a novel issue to be addressed. In support of the notion that bone-marrow derived cells contribute to fibrosis, several groups have reported the presence of these cells in cardiac fibrosis secondary to myocardial infarction (Mollmann et al., 2006), myocarditis (Kania et al., 2009) and angiotensin-II induced fibrosis (Sopel et al., 2011). Furthermore, cardiac resident MSCs may also act as a source of fibroblasts that mediate scar formation after MI (Carlson et al., 2011). Thus it has been suggested that fibroblasts are the end-stage lineage of self-renewing mulipotential MSCs (Sarugaser et al., 2009).

We hypothesized that human BM-MSCs acquire a myofibroblastic phenotype in culture that is similar to cardiac myofibroblasts and that this myofibroblastic function can be attenuated with the inhibition of NMMII. We suggest that because of their propensity to adopt a myofibroblastic phenotype, hMSCs may contribute to cardiac fibrosis following myocardial infarction, and may therefore represent a novel therapeutic target in controlling fibrosis. Furthermore, this issue should be taken into consideration when expanding these cells *in vitro* for therapeutic use in myocardial regeneration.

In this study, our objectives were as follows: (1) to isolate and characterize human BM-MSCs from patients with ischemic heart disease, (2) to compare their phenotype and function to human cardiac myofibroblasts with respect to gene expression profile, collagen gel contractility and collagen synthesis, and (3) to determine whether inhibition of NMMII using blebbistatin, (small molecule that specifically inhibits all NMMII activity), and specific knockdown of MYH9 and MYH10 (NMMIIA and IIB respectively) can attenuate the myofibroblast phenotype conversion. These comparisons

were observed under standard two dimensional cell culture conditions without the addition of specific induction factors.

#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Isolation and culture of human MSCs and human cardiac myofibroblasts

The Bannatyne Campus Research Ethics Board of the University of Manitoba approval was obtained for the collection of bone marrow, left ventricular and atrial tissue from patients undergoing a cardiac procedure. Written informed consent was obtained from each patient prior to tissue collection.

Human MSC cultures were prepared based on plastic adherence according to the methods developed by Caplan and Friedenstein (Friedenstein et al., 1976; Caplan, 1991) with some modifications. Bone marrow aspirates of 0.5 to 3 ml were taken from the sternum of patients undergoing a cardiac surgery requiring a full median sternotomy. The collected fresh bone marrow specimens were immediately placed in a tube containing 10 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and subjected to mechanical disaggregation. The cells were then diluted with Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) low glucose media, supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, and 100 mM ascorbic acid. Cells were plated onto 10 cm plastic culture dishes and maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 24 hours, non-adherent cells (hematopoietic cells) were discarded, and the adherent cells were thoroughly washed twice with PBS. Fresh complete medium was added and replaced every 3 or 4 days. After 10 to 14 days of cultivation, primary cultures were 60-80% confluent. Cells were then dissociated with TrypLE Express and seeded at low densities for expansion through successive passages. Samples were collected at early passages (P0-P2) for analysis.

Atrial appendage and left ventricular tissue from the apex of the heart was taken from patients undergoing mechanical ventricular assist device surgery and subjected to collagenase digestion to isolate cardiac myofibroblasts. Minced ventricular and atrial tissue was treated with 2 mg/ml collagenase II in SMEM media and incubated for 3 hours at 37°C. Collagenase was neutralized by the addition of an equal volume of medium containing 20% FBS and liberated cells were collected by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 7 minutes. Cells were resuspended in fresh complete medium containing 20% FBS, seeded onto plastic culture dishes and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% humidity. The digestion was repeated with the remaining tissue pieces. Non-adherent cells (myocytes) were removed the next day and fresh medium was added to the adherent cells and replaced every 3 or 4 days. Samples were harvested at early passages (P0-P2) for analysis.

#### 2. Differentiation of MSCs

The stem cell characteristics of human MSCs were assessed through targeted differentiation to fat, bone and cartilage using the appropriate induction medium. Induced differentiation was performed at passage 0, 1, and 2.

#### 2.1 Adipogenesis

For adipogenic differentiation, hMSCs were cultured in basal medium supplemented with 0.5  $\mu$ M dexamethasone, 0.5  $\mu$ M isobutyl methylxanthine, and 50  $\mu$ M

indomethacin for up to 2 weeks. The presence of intracellular lipid accumulation was evaluated with Oil Red O stain to assess adipogenesis.

#### 2.2 Osteogenesis

For osteogenic differentiation, hMSCs were maintained in basal medium supplemented with 0.05 mM ascorbic acid-2-phosphate, 0.1  $\mu$ M dexamethasone, and 100 mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate and cells were cultured for 3 weeks. Evidence of calcium deposits was detected by Alizarin red staining.

#### 2.3 Chondrogenesis

The STEM PRO chondrogenesis differentiation kit was used to induce chondrogenesis. Cells were cultured for 3 weeks and Alcian blue staining was used to verify synthesis of proteoglycans, an indication of chondrogenic differentiation.

#### 3. Immunofluorescence

Cells cultured in 24-well plates overlaid with glass coverslip were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 minutes and permeabilized in 0.2% Triton-X-100 in PBS for 5 minutes. Cells were subsequently washed with PBS and blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 30 min at room temperature. Fixed cells were incubated with 50 µL of the appropriate primary antibody overnight at 4°C and detected with a biotinylated secondary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature. Cells requiring dual staining for filamentous actin were washed with PBS after incubation with the secondary antibody,

and incubated with 50  $\mu$ L of phalloidin for 30 min at room temperature. Vectashield with DAPI was used to mount the coverslips and cells were visualized with an epifluorescent microscope with appropriate filters.

#### 4. Fluorescence-activated cell sorting analysis

Cells were grown to 80-90% confluency, trypsinized with TrypLE, centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 min, washed with PBS and counted.  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were used for each marker stained. Cells were permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X-100 for 15 min and blocked with 2% BSA in PBS for 30 min at room temperature. Primary antibodies were added to the cells and incubated for 45 min on ice. Cells were then washed three times, centrifuged, and incubated with the appropriate fluorescent secondary antibody for 30 min. Equal volumes of 0.1% BSA and 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) were added to each tube and the cells were kept at 4°C overnight. Cells were centrifuged and resuspended in 0.1% BSA before running analysis on the Becton Dickinson LSR2 cytometer.

#### 5. Immunoblot analysis

Cells were washed twice in cold PBS and lysed in RIPA lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, and 1% Triton X-100) and protease inhibitor cocktail (0.1 M phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 5  $\mu$ g/ml leupepetin, 2  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin, and 1  $\mu$ g/ml pepstatin). Protein concentrations of whole cell lysates were determined using the BCA method (Smith et

al., 1985) and equal amounts of each protein sample ( $15\mu g$ ) were separated on an 8% sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel at 130V. Separated proteins were then transferred to a polyvinylidene difluoride membrane for 1 hour at 150V. After blocking the membrane with 5% nonfat dried skim milk powder for 2 hours at room temperature, the membrane was incubated with primary antibody for 1 hour at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. The membrane was washed three times with 0.05% PBS-Tween for 15 minutes each and then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody. After extensive washing with PBS-T, protein bands were visualized by ECL Plus according to the manufacturer's instructions and developed on film. Membranes were subsequently stripped and reprobed for  $\beta$ -tubulin as a loading control. Blot densities were measured using Quantity One software and normalized to  $\beta$ -tubulin blot densities.

#### 6. Real-time PCR Analysis

#### 6.1 RNA extraction

Cells were washed once with sterile PBS and lysed with TRIzol reagent for 5 min at room temperature and subsequently stored at -80°C until ready to process. Isolated RNA was then subjected to a phase separation with chloroform and the aqueous upper phase was transferred into a new tube. Total RNA was then precipitated with isopropanol and washed twice with 75% ethanol. Total RNA isolation was further purified with Ambion's DNA-free kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA concentration and quality was analyzed using the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer.

#### 6.2 Real-time PCR

We assessed the expression of NMMIIA, NMMIIB,  $\alpha$ -SMA, ED-A Fibronectin and vimentin by quantitative real-time PCR in both hMSCs and cardiac myofibroblasts. Real-time PCR was performed on the Bio-Rad Mini Opticon detection system using the iscript one-step RT-PCR kit. Gene expression was normalized relative to the endogenous gene ACTB ( $\beta$ -actin). All primers were designed using the Primer3 Plus program (Table 1 and Table 2).

#### 7. Inhibition of NMMII

#### 7.1 Blebbistatin administration

Blebbistatin, a specific small molecule inhibitor of NMMII was used to treat cells for 24-48 hours at a concentration of 5, 10 and 50  $\mu$ M. Culture media was changed every 2 days and fresh blebbistatin was added to cells chronically treated with blebbistatin from isolation. Cells treated with blebbistatin were protected from light at all times as blebbistatin is a light sensitive compound.

#### 7.2 Knockdown of NMMII siRNA

Optimal cell density and siRNA transfection reagent 1 dose was determined using Dharmacon siGLO Green Transfection Indicator. Successful transfection was assessed by visual fluorescent RNA duplex signal uptake and localization to the nucleus. MSCs were passaged into 20% FBS media containing no antibiotics one day before the transfection at  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/well in 6-well plates. Specific siRNA (25 nM, 50 nM or 100 nM) was mixed with 4.8µl Dharmacon siRNA Transfection Reagent 1 and the cells were incubated with the transfection medium for 24 hours as suggested in the standard protocol. Cells were then washed once with PBS and fresh media was added. Knockdown efficiency was analyzed with RT-PCR at 24 and 48 hours after transfection and compared to a nontargeting negative control siRNA. For protein, contractility and viability experiments, cells were harvested at 48, 72 and 96 hours post-transfection.

### 8. Collagen gel contraction assay

Collagen gels were prepared from purified bovine type I collagen (3 mg/ml) in 24-well culture dishes and incubated overnight at 37°C to induce gelation. Cells were plated at a density of 5 x  $10^4$  cells (2.5 x  $10^4$  cells for siRNA transfection) per well and allowed to attach overnight. For phenotype studies, the cells were serum starved for 24 hours before treatment with or without 10 ng/ml of recombinant human TGF- $\beta$ 1 for an additional 24 hours. For transfection studies, cells were transfected with negative control, NMMIIA and NMMIIB siRNA the following day for an additional 24 hours in 20% FBS media with no antibiotics. The cells were then washed once with PBS and fresh media was added. Treatment with 10 ng/ml of TGF- $\beta$ 1 and 50  $\mu$ M of blebbistatin were added at 24, 48 and 72 hours post transfection for 24 hours and gel contractility was assessed.
Collagen gels were physically detached from the side of the wells immediately after treatment and the diameters of collagen lattices were measured using digital photographs taken at time 0 and 24 hours after stimulation. Three replicates were used for each group. IDL based MeasureGel software was used to analyze the reduction in collagen gel surface area.

#### 9. Measurement of type I collagen synthesis

Synthesis of mature type I collagen was determined by measuring the concentration of the carboxyterminal propeptide of type I collagen (CICP) in conditioned media according to the manufacturer's specification. Briefly, cells were plated at a density of 5 x  $10^4$  cells per well in a 6 well culture dish, allowed to attach overnight and subsequently serum starved for 24 hours. Cells were then stimulated with or without TGF- $\beta$ 1 (1 ng/ml and 10 ng/ml) for an additional 48 hours at which point the medium was collected and cells were trypsinized and counted. Each group was performed in triplicates. Analysis was carried out in a microtitre plate format utilizing a monoclonal anti-CICP antibody coated on the plate, a rabbit anti-CICP antiserum, a goat anti-rabbit alkaline phosphatase conjugate, and a pNNP substrate to quantify CICP in the conditioned media. CICP concentrations were normalized to total cell count and compared to controls as a fold change.

#### 10. Live dead assay

Cells plated onto collagen gel substrates were assessed for viability 24 hours after cells were allowed to contract. The LIVE/DEAD Viability/Cytotoxicity kit was used to detect both live and dead cells using a two-colour fluorescence cell viability assay according the manufacturer's protocol. Viable cells are detected by the presence of ubiquitous intracellular esterase activity determined by the enzymatic conversion of nonfluorescent to intensely fluorescent cell-permeant calcein AM. The calcein dye is well retained within live cells and produces an intense uniform green fluorescence. Non-viable cells are detected by the uptake and binding of ethidium homodimer-1 to exposed nucleic acids by cells with damaged membranes. Ethidium homodimer produces a bright red fluorescence in dead cells. Briefly, cells were washed once with PBS and 300 µL of the live/dead solution was added to each well and incubated for 30 min at 37°C in the dark. Gels were then manually detached from the wells, transferred to a glass slide, cover slipped and visualized with an epifluorescent microscope with appropriate filters. Each treatment group was run in triplicate, and 3 representative images were taken for each triplicate. Live and dead cells were counted and quantified using ImageJ software.

#### 11. Reagents

Cell culture media and reagents used for hMSCs and cardiac myofibroblasts growth and differentiation were purchased from GIBCO (Grand Island, NY) unless otherwise specified. FBS was purchased from Hyclone Laboratories Inc. (Logan, UT) and antibiotics (penicillin and streptomycin) were purchased from LONZA (Walkersville,

MD). Cell culture plates and coverslips were purchased from BD Falcon VWR (Franklin Lakes, NJ). BSA was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ) and Vectashield mounting medium with DAPI was purchased from Cedarlane (Burlingame, CA). A BCA kit used for protein assay and pre-stained protein ladder for Western blot analysis were purchased from BIO-RAD (Hercules, CA), PVDF membrane was obtained from Millipore (Etobicoke, ON). The enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL Plus) detection system was purchased from Amersham Biosciences (Buckinghamshire, UK) and collgenase type 2 used to digest atrial and ventricular tissue was purchased from Worthington Biochemical Corp. (Jackwood, NJ). Purified bovine collagen type I used for collagen gel contraction assay was obtained from Advanced BioMatrix (San Diego, CA) and the MicroVue CICP EIA kit used to measure collagen synthesis was purchased from QUIDEL (San Diego, CA). TGF- $\beta$ 1 and Blebbistatin used to treat cells were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN) and EMD (Gibbstown, NJ) respectively. All ON-TARGET smart pool and ON-TARGET plus non-targeting pool siRNAs and DharmaFECT 1 transfection reagents were purchased from Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO). All primers used for RT-PCR were purchased from Sigma-Genosys (Oakville, ON). DNA-free kit and TRIzol reagent were both purchased from Ambion (Carlsbad, CA), iscript one-step RT-PCR kit was purchased from BIO-RAD (Hercules, CA) and RNA Nano chips and reagents were purchased from Agilent (Mississauga, ON). The LIVE/DEAD Viability/Cytotoxicity kit used to assess cell viability was purchased from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR).

#### 12. Antibodies

Mouse monoclonal non-muscle myosin heavy chain myosin, non-muscle myosin IIA and rabbit polyclonal beta-tubulin used as our loading control for Western blots were purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA). Polyclonal antibodies to non-muscle myosin IIC, vimentin and CD90 were purchased from Santa Cruz (Santa Cruz, CA). Mouse monoclonal ED-A Fibronectin was purchased from Millipore (Etobicoke, ON), mouse monoclonal α-SMA was purchased from Sigma (Saint Louis, MO) and mouse monoclonal CD45 was purchased from BD Bioscience (Franklin Lakes, NJ). Mouse monoclonal antibody against procollagen (SP1.D8) was obtained from Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank (Iowa City, IA). Secondary antibodies used for Western blotting (goat anti-rabbit IgG, rabbit anti-mouse IgG and rabbit anti-goat IgG, conjugated to horseradish peroxidase) were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories (Eugene, OR). Phalloidin used to stain filamentous actin and all Alexa fluor 488 secondary antibodies for immunofluorescence staining were purchased from Invitrogen (Eugene, OR).

#### 13. Statistical analysis

All data are expressed as the means  $\pm$  SEM. Means between two groups were compared using the two-tailed Student's *t*-test. Differences between multiple groups were analyzed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by the Student-Neumann-Keuls test using SigmaStat 3.5 software program. A *p* value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Table 1: Primer Sequences

| Gene    |                         |                         |
|---------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| Name    | Primers 5'-3' Forward   | Primers 5'-3' Reverse   |
| MYH9    | ACACCGCCTACAGGAGTATGA   | ACACCGCCTACAGGAGTATGA   |
| MYH10   | AGGTGGACTATAAGGCAGATGAG | CTGTCTGATGACTGGTGCAAAA  |
| ED-A FN | CCAGTCCACAGCTATTCCTG    | ACAACCACGGATGAGCTG      |
| VIM     | GAGAACTTTGCCGTTGAAGC    | TGGTATTCACGAAGGTGACG    |
| ACTA2   | TGTAAGGCCGGCTTTGCT      | CGTAGCTGTCTTTTTGTCCCATT |
| ACTB    | AGGCCAACCGCGAGAAGATG    | CAGAGGCGTACAGGGATAGCAC  |

### Table 2: Gene and protein names

| Gene name | Protein name     | Alternative name |
|-----------|------------------|------------------|
| MYH9      | NMMIIA           |                  |
| MYH10     | NMMIIB           | SMemb            |
| ED-A FN   | ED-A fibronectin |                  |
| VIM       | Vimentin         |                  |
| ACTA2     | α-SMA            |                  |
| ACTB      | β-actin          |                  |

### Table 3: On-target SMART pool siRNA target sequences

| Gene  | Duplex name                | Target sequence                |
|-------|----------------------------|--------------------------------|
| MYH9  | MYH9 on-target SMART pool  | MYH9-5, 9-6, 9-7, 9-8 pool     |
| MYH9  | МҮН9-5                     | GUAUCAAUGUGACCGAUUU            |
| MYH9  | МҮН9-6                     | CAAAGGAGCCCUGGCGUUA            |
| MYH9  | MYH9-7                     | GGAGGAACGCCGAGCAGUA            |
| MYH9  | MYH9-8                     | CGAAGCGGGUGAAAGCAAA            |
| MYH10 | MYH10 on-target SMART pool | MYH10-5, 10-6, 10-7, 10-8 pool |
| MYH10 | MYH10-5                    | CCAAUUUACUCUGAGAAUA            |
| MYH10 | MYH10-6                    | GGGCCACUCUACAAAGAAU            |
| MYH10 | MYH10-7                    | GAGCAGCCGCCAACAAAUU            |
| MYH10 | MYH10-8                    | GGAAGAAGCUCGACGCGCA            |

#### **III. RESULTS**

#### 1. Human MSCs functionally express a myofibroblastic phenotype in vitro

#### 1.1 Phenotypic characterization of human MSCs

To confirm the multipotency starting population of MSCs, we induced our bone marrow derived cells to undergo differentiation into the adipogenic, osteogenic, and chondrogenic lineages, an established critical requirement of MSC (Pittenger et al., 2000; Dominci et al., 2006). Human MSCS at each passage were cultured in the appropriate induction medium for up to 3 weeks. Evidence of adipogenic differentiation was noted by the presence of intracellular lipid vacuoles when stained with Oil Red O (Figure 1B). Positive alizarin red staining for alkaline phosphatase and minerals was indicative of osteogenic cells (Figure 1C). Glycosaminoglycans and proteoglycans indicating chondrogenic differentiation was confirmed with Alcian blue stain (Figure 1D). Induced differentiated hMSCs were morphologically distinct from undifferentiated cells (Figure 1A). The successful differentiation of hMSCs at each passage provides evidence that the starting cell population were indeed multipotent and can maintain their capacity for differentiation over serial passages. To further confirm that the collected bone marrow derived cells were mesenchymal stem cells and not hematopoietic stem cells, cells were stained for the hematopoietic markers CD45 and CD34. At each passage, FACS analysis showed that less than 17% of the entire cell population stained positive for both CD 45 and CD 34, meanwhile immunofluorescent data revealed negative staining for each marker.



### Figure 1: In vitro differentiation of hMSCs.

Cultured hMSCs displayed trilineage differentiation capacity when cultured in the appropriate induction medium: adipogenic (B), osteogenic (C) and chondrogenic (D) lineages. Undifferentiated control hMSCs (A). Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs).

We examined the effects of standard culture conditions on bone marrow derived hMSC differentiation and found that hMSCs have phenotypic characteristics that are very similar to human CMyfbs. Morphologically, hMSCs display an adherent spindle shape that became increasingly flattened throughout successive passages that was similar to that observed in human CMyfbs (Figure 2).



## Figure 2: hMSCs display similar morphology to their cardiac derived myofibroblasts.

Bone marrow derived hMSCs consistently displayed spindle shaped morphology over serial passages (A-C). This morphology was comparable to that observed in ventricular cardiac myofibroblasts isolated from the same patient (D-F). Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs) and human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs). To confirm whether these hMSCs expressed a myofibroblastic phenotype in culture, we performed immunofluorescent staining and Western blot analysis on cultured cells for a panel of known myofibroblast markers. Currently, the expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA is considered to be the most reliable and pivotal hallmark of the differentiated myofibroblast (Pittenger et al., 2000). However, a number of other cells express  $\alpha$ -SMA and thus, the upregulated expression of vimentin, of embryonic smooth muscle myosin heavy chain (SMemb), and of focal adhesion proteins like paxillin, vinculin, tensin, and the extra domain A (ED-A) splice variant of fibronectin are further distinguishing markers of myofibroblasts (Rohr, 2011; Eyden, 2008). Furthermore, the role of myofibroblasts in ECM remodelling and consequently fibrosis, is marked by their ability to synthesize collagen. Similar to CMyfbs, primary human MSCs isolated from patients undergoing heart surgery were stained positive for  $\alpha$ -SMA, vimentin, SMemb, ED-A fibronectin, and sp1D8 (collagen type I) (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Bone marrow derived hMSCs display myofibroblast markers. Similiar to ventricular cardiac myofibroblasts, hMSCs stained positive for various myofibroblast markers (green) and filamentous-actin (red). Lanes 1 and 4: nuclei stained with DAPI. Lanes 2 and 5: myofibroblast markers. Lanes 3 and 6: merged image. Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs), alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), collagen I (Sp1.D8), and non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA (SMemb).

Western blot and PCR analysis confirmed that expression of these myofibroblast markers was consistently expressed soon after isolation and throughout serial passage in both hMSCs and CMyfbs (Figure 4 and 5). These results were obtained in multiple experimental repetitions with both hMSCs and hCMyfbs (n=3-10). However, it is important to note that variable expression levels of myofibroblast markers occurred not only between patients, but also between cell passage and cell type.



#### Figure 4: Early passage hMSCs express myofibroblast proteins.

Representative Western blots from the same patient were probed for various myofibroblasts markers over serial passage (A and C). Primary human MSCs (B) consistently express myofibroblast proteins throughout early passages (P0-P2), similar to ventricular cardiac myofibroblasts (D).  $\beta$ -tubulin was used as a loading control. Fold change expression was compared to P0 cells. Comparable results were obtained in multiple experimental repetitions with both hMSCs (n=10) and hCMyfbs (n=3). Results are displayed as mean ± SEM. Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs), alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), procollagen I (Sp1.D8), and non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA (SMemb).





Human MSCs express an mRNA profile consistent with a myofibroblastic phenotype throughout serial passages (A) similar to atrial cardiac myofibroblasts (B). Fold change expression was compared to P0 cells. Comparable results were obtained in multiple experimental repetitions with both hMSCs (n=3-5) and hCMyfbs (n=4). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Abbreviations: alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), ED-A fibronectin (ED-A Fn), human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs), human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), and non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIB (SMemb).

#### 1.2 Functional characterization of human MSCs

Collagen gel contraction assays, which mimic the infarct scar that is rich in collagen and TGF- $\beta$ 1, was used to assess the physiological function of BM-MSCs. We compared the ability of hMSCs to exert sustained tonic contractions on collagen gels, to that of ventricular CMyfbs, and observed the effect of TGF- $\beta$ 1 (10 ng/ml) on gel contractility (Figure 6). Samples were taken from 4-8 patients and run in triplicates. Non-treated hMSCs displayed a basal level of contraction that was similar to that observed in cardiac myofibroblasts (34.9% ± 1.4%, 32.8% ± 1.4%, 31.8% ± 1.8%, 48.5% ± 2.5% reduction in surface area in P1 hMSCS, P1 hCMyfbs, P2 hMSCs and P2 hCMyfbs respectively). Moreover, TGF- $\beta$ 1 treated cells displayed significant increased contractile function as compared to non-treated cells (41.1% ± 1.3%, 44.7% ± 2.5%, 38.2% ± 1.7%, 48.5% ± 2.5% reduction in surface area in P1 hMSCS, P1 hCMyfbs, P2 hMSCs and P2 hCMyfbs TGF- $\beta$ 1 treated cells respectively).



## Figure 6: hMSCs contract collagen gels to a similar degree as hCMyfbs and display TGF-β1 responsiveness.

Representative images of hMSCs and hCMyfbs from a single patient showing reduced collagen gel surface area after 24 hours with or without TGF- $\beta$ 1 (10 ng/ml) treatment (A). hMSCs seeded onto collagen gel matrixes functionally contract to the same extent as ventricular cardiac myofibroblasts and displayed a significant increase in contractility with TGF- $\beta$ 1 treatment (B). Samples were run in triplicate and comparable results were obtained in multiple experimental repetitions with both hMSCs (n=8) and hCMyfbs (n=4-6). Results are displayed as mean ± SEM. \*p < 0.05 vs. non-stimulated control. \*\*p < 0.01 vs. non stimulated control. Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs) and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1).

Furthermore, the effects of different serum conditions on gel contractility were compared. P1 hMSCs were either serum starved or cultured in low serum (1%FBS) media one day prior to treatment with TGF- $\beta$ 1 (10 ng/ml). Cells cultured in serum free conditions significantly increased contractility by 26.9% as compared to cells cultured in low serum conditions (Figure 7). Thus, cells cultured in serum free media exhibit a more differentiated myofibroblast phenotype associated with increased contractility. These findings suggest that hMSCs functionally behave like cardiac myofibroblasts *in vitro* and display TGF- $\beta$ 1 responsiveness when cultured on collagen matrices.





The physiological function of hMSCs was further assessed by measuring the production of mature type I collagen *in vitro*. Collagen is synthesized and secreted by myofibroblasts as procollagen precursors, and is converted to mature collagen by proteolytic reactions catalyzed by specific procollagen proteinases (Prockop and Kivirikko, 1995). During collagen production, the carboxyterminal propeptide of type I collagen (CICP) is cleaved and released into the cell culture media. Thus, measurement of CICP is a reliable indicator of mature type I collagen production. All patient samples (n=4-7) were run in triplicates. The level of CICP in cells treated with or without TGF-β1 (1 ng/ml and 10 ng/ml) for 48 hours was measured at each passage. Similar levels of collagen production between hMSCs and hCMyfbs at different passages was observed (Figure 8). However, in contrast to the observed TGF-β1 responsiveness of hMSCs on collagen gel substrates, hMSCs did not show a significant increase in collagen production with either dose of TGF-β1 treatment. Thus, hMSCs synthesize mature type I collagen independent of TGF-β1 stimulation.





Levels of CICP measured in the cell culture media showed comparable levels of mature collagen production between hMSCs (A) and their respective ventricular cardiac myofibroblast counterparts (B). hMSCs treated with TGF- $\beta$ 1 (1 ng/ml and 10 ng/ml) for 48 hours did not result in significant increased collagen synthesis. Samples were analyzed in triplicate and comparable results were obtained in multiple experimental repetitions with both hMSCs (n=7) and hCMyfb (n=4). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05 vs. non-stimulated control. Abbreviations: Collagen I carboxyterminal propeptide (CICP), human cardiac myofibroblast (hCMyfb), human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1).

#### 2. Myosin expression in hMSCs

To determine which myosins are expressed in hMSCs, we probed for the presence of all three isoforms of non-muscle myosin II (IIA, IIB, and IIC) and smooth muscle myosin (SMM). Figure 9 demonstrates that both hMSCs and CMyfbs expressed the non-muscle myosin isoforms IIA and IIB, but did not express the IIC isoform or SMM. To ensure that our antibodies were specific, we used skeletal muscle and smooth muscle tissue as positive controls for NMMIIC and SMM respectively.



#### Figure 9: Myosin expression in hMSCs and cardiac myofibroblasts

Western blot analysis showing specificity of the different myosin antibodies. Both hMSCs and ventricular cardiac myofibroblasts showed expression of NMMIIA and NMMIIB isoforms, but lack of NMMIIC and SMM. Skeletal muscle and smooth muscle tissue were used as a positive control for NMMIIC and SMM respectively. Abbreviations: human cardiac myofibroblasts (hCMyfbs), human mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), non-muscle myosin II (NMMII) and smooth muscle myosin (SMM).

#### 3. Effect of NMMII inhibition on hMSC phenotype

#### 3.1 Blebbistatin

Blebbistatin, a small molecular inhibitor specific for muscle and NMMII, binds to the myosin-ADP-Pi complex with high affinity and interferes with the phosphate release process required for rigid actomyosin cross-linking (Limouze et al., 2004). Thus, treatment with blebbistatin was used to assess the change in both function and phenotype associated with the inhibition of NMMII's activity. We chronically treated our cells with blebbistatin (5  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) immediately after isolation. Chronic treatment with blebbistatin resulted in an increased expression of NMMIIA, NMMIIB,  $\alpha$ -SMA, vimentin and decreased expression of ED-A fibronectin at all passages as compared to untreated cells in a dose dependent manner (Figure 10). These findings were confirmed by repeat experiments (n=3). Thus, inhibition of NMMII alters the expression of myofibroblast markers by hMSCs over serial passage.





hMSCs chronically treated with the NMMII inhibition drug blebbistatin (5 $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M) from isolation showed an increased expression of NMMIIA, NMMIIB,  $\alpha$ -SMA, vimentin and decreased expression of ED-A fibronectin compared to untreated P0 cells. Representative Western blots from a single patient (A) and corresponding histogram (B). The result was confirmed by repeat experiment (n=3). Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), non-muscle myosin II (NMMII), alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), ED-A fibronectin (ED-A Fn) and blebbistatin (BB).

#### 3.2 siRNA knockdown

MYH9 and MYH10 siRNA were used to knockdown NMMIIA and NMMIIB (NMMIIC was not tested as its expression was not detected in our cells) to examine the effects of each specific NMMII isoform on hMSC phenotype and function. We employed SMART Pool siRNAs that contained four different target sequences for greater target specificity knockdown. All patient samples (n=3-4) were run in triplicates. Quantitative real-time PCR analysis displayed that a knockdown efficiency greater than 80% in both MYH9 (100 nM) and MYH10 (50 nM) was achieved at 24 and 48 hours post-transfection (Figure 11). Gene expression of MYH9 and MYH10 was compared to non-targeting negative control siRNA (50 and 100 nM) treated cells as a change in fold. Knockdown of each MYH gene was target specific and simultaneous knockdown of MYH9/10 (50 + 50 nM) was greater than 65% at both time points.



Figure 11: NMMIIA and IIB siRNA knockdown is efficient and specific.

NMMIIA and IIB expression was knocked down with the Dharmacon on-target SMART pool MYH9 and MYH10 siRNA respectively in P1 hMSCs. Both MYH9 (100 nM) and MYH10 (50 nM) siRNA pools were efficient and specific at both 24 and 48 hours post-transfection when compared to control siRNA (50 and 100 nM) treated cells (blue columns indicate MYH9 expression, and red columns indicate MYH10 gene expression). MYH9/10 (50 + 50 nM) siRNA knockdown was also efficient at both time points. The result was confirmed by repeat experiment (n=3-4). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p<0.01 vs non stimulated control and \*\*p<0.05 vs non stimulated control. Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cell (hMSC) and non-muscle myosin II (NMMII).

Knockdown efficiency and specificity was further confirmed using Western blot analysis. P1 hMSCs display decreased NMMIIA expression with MYH9 (100 nM) and MYH9/10 siRNA knockdown over a span of 96 hours (Figure 12). MYH9 knockdown was specific and MYH10 (50 nM) knockdown showed increased NMMIIA expression, consistent with results observed in RT-PCR. MYH10 (50 nM) and MYH9/10 siRNA knockdown displayed decreased expression of NMMIIB over a span of 96 hours. Moreover, MYH9 (100 nM) knockdown showed increased expression of NMMIIB at both 24 and 48 hours, an effect that was not observed with RT-PCR. High MYH9/10 (50 nM + 50 nM) siRNA concentrations resulted in further decreased expression of NMMIIB compared to low MYH9/10 (25 nM + 25 nM) siRNA knockdown.



Figure 12: NMMIIA & IIB protein knockdown expression is stable over 96 hours. P1 hMSCs display decreased NMMIIA and IIB expression with MYH9 and MYH10 siRNA knockdown respectively over a span of 96 hours when compared to control siRNA treated cells. Both MYH9 (100 nM) and MYH10 (50 nM) knockdown was specific. MYH9 knockdown showed increased NMMIIB expression and vice versa. Decreased NMMIIA and IIB expression was seen with both high (100 nM) and low (50 nM) dose MYH9/10 siRNA at 96 hours. The result was confirmed by repeat experiment (n=3-6). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05 vs. non stimulated control. Abbreviations: human mesenchymal stem cell (hMSC) and non-muscle myosin II (NMMII).

Human MSCs transfected with both MYH9 (50 nM) and MYH10 (50 nM) siRNA showed reduced and less prominent  $\alpha$ -SMA and F-actin fibers 96 hours post-transfection compared to control siRNA treated cells (Figure 13). A complete change in morphology was observed with blebbistatin (50nM) treatment, an effect that may be associated with the disassociation of the actin-myosin complex.



#### Figure 13: Inhibition of NMMII alters α-SMA and F-actin organization

Inhibition of NMMII with MYH9/10 siRNA (100 nM) displayed reduced and less prominent  $\alpha$ -SMA (green) and F-actin (red) fibers in hMSCs 96 hours post-transfection compared to non-targeting negative control siRNA (100 nM) treated cells. Complete change in morphology was observed with blebbistatin (50  $\mu$ M) treatment. Bottom panel displays merged image. Abbreviations: non-muscle myosin II (NMMII), alpha smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), filamentous actin (F-actin) and blebbistatin (BB).

#### 4. Effect of NMMII inhibition on gel contractility

To determine if NMMII inhibition could functionally affect contractility in hMSCs, we plated P1 hMSCs onto collagen gel substrates and treated the cells with blebbistatin (10  $\mu$ M and 50  $\mu$ M) for 24 hours. Treatment with low dose blebbistatin reduced cell contractility by 17.8% compared to untreated cells and did not affect the cell's TGF- $\beta$ 1 responsiveness (Figure 14). Complete inhibition of gel contractility was observed with high dose blebbistatin treatment. Knockdown of MYH9, MYH10 and MYH9/10 at 48, 72, and 96 hours post transfection did not significantly reduce gel contractility when compared to cells transfected with a non-targeting control siRNA (Figure 15). The discrepancy observed between blebbistatin and siRNA treated cells may be a reflection of the differences in NMMII inhibition – blebbistatin inhibits NMMII's ATPase activity meanwhile siRNA reduces the gene expression.



# Figure 14: NMMII inhibition with blebbistatin reduces gel contractility in hMSCs.

Cell contractility was enhanced with either TGF- $\beta$ 1 (10 ng/mL) treatment alone or attenuated by NMMII inhibition with blebbistatin treatment alone in P1 hMSCs. Treatment with blebbistatin (50 µM) for 48 hours completely inhibited basal and TGF- $\beta$ 1 induced contractility. Samples were run in triplicate and comparable experiments were repeated (n=6-16). Results are displayed as mean ± SEM. \*p< 0.01 vs. non stimulated control. Abbreviations: human mesencyhmal stem cell (hMSC), non-muscle myosin II (NMMII), and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1).



# Figure 15: Inhibition of NMMII with blebbistatin reduces collagen gel contractility greater than NMMII inhibition using specific isoform knockdown.

Significant reduction in P1 hMSC contractility was seen with blebbistatin (50  $\mu$ M) treatment but not MYH9 (100 nM), MYH10 (100 nM) or MYH9/10 (100nM) siRNA knockdown when compared to non-targeting control siRNA (100 nM) treated cells at 48, 72, and 96 hours post-transfection. Samples were run in triplicate and comparable experiments were repeated (n=3). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \**p*< 0.01 vs. non stimulated control for corresponding time point. Abbreviations: Non-muscle myosin II (NMMII), human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1).

#### 5. Effect of NMMII inhibitor on cell viability

To assess whether the observed reduction in gel contractility was a result of NMMII inhibition and not reduced cell viability, cells plated on the collagen gel substrates were analyzed using a LIVE/DEAD assay kit 24 hours after the cells were allowed to contract. As shown in Figure 16, cell viability was preserved (> 99%) in both transfected cells (MYH9, MYH10 and MYH9/10) and blebbistatin (50  $\mu$ M) treated cells at 48, 72 and 96 hours post-transfection. Thus, inhibition of NMMII does not affect cell viability.



#### Figure 16: Inhibition of NMMII does not affect cell viability.

No change in cell viability was observed with NMMII inhibition with either siRNA or blebbistatin compared to non-targeting negative control siRNA cells at 48, 72 and 96 hours. P1 hMSC samples were run in triplicate and comparable experiments were repeated (n=3). Results are displayed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Abbreviations: Non-muscle myosin II (NMMII), human mesenchymal stem cells (hMSCs), and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1).

#### **IV. DISCUSSION**

# 1. Significance of standard cell culture conditions stimulating acquisition of a myofibroblast phenotype by human MSCs *in vitro*

Bone marrow extracts contain heterogeneous cell populations. MSCs represent only 0.001-0.01% of the total population of nucleated cells in the bone marrow (Pittenger et al., 1999). Expansion of plastic adherence MSCs is the most widely used method of obtaining MSCs for cardiac repair (Williams and Hare, 2011). Cultures of hMSCs, unlike murine cells (Phinney et al., 1999), become devoid of hematopoietic precursors after a couple of passages and can be extensively expanded before they senesce (Sekiya et al., 2002). Furthermore, the choice of culture medium employed is an important factor for obtaining MSC of good quality. The most commonly employed reagents are  $\alpha$ -MEM or DMEM with low glucose content, containing fetal bovine serum at concentrations of 10% or 20% (Chen et al., 2009). In this study, we employed DMEM F12 media supplemented with 20% FBS as our standard culture condition and characterized hMSCs and their functional properties within these conditions.

Previous investigators have demonstrated that hMSCs can differentiate into fibroblasts by cyclic mechanical stimulation and treatment with several growth factors, including connective tissue growth factor and fibroblast growth factor 2 (Altman et al., 2002; Noth et al., 2005; Moreau et al., 2005; Hankemeier et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2010). Our data indicate that hMSCs readily adopt a functional myofibroblastic phenotype in culture without the use of any additional stimulation or inducing growth factors. It is known that MSCs produce an array of endogenous growth factors and cytokines, including the basic fibroblast growth factor (Schuleri et al., 2007). It is possible that basic

fibroblast growth factor secreted into the conditioned medium from cultured MSCs may promote this MSC-myofibroblast differentiation. In addition, the effects of culture expansion on hard plastic surfaces as well as the stress from mechanical isolation may also be key players in modulating this MSC-myofibroblast phenomenon (Tse and Engler, 2011). In one study, hMSCs assumed morphological patterns and gene expression patterns consistent with differentiation into distinct tissue-specific cell types when exposed to polyacrylamide gels with different ranges of stiffness (Engler et al., 2006). MSCs cultured extensively in vitro displayed up regulation of genes involved in cell differentiation, apoptosis and cell death, whereas expression of genes associated with mitosis and proliferation were down regulated (Schallmoser et al., 2010). It has been suggested that in an attempt to adapt to their new environment, MSCs detached from their *in vivo* niche undergo changes in gene expression and partial differentiation (Pevsner-Fischer et al., 2011). Thus, one can postulate that the disruption of the microenvironment niche when isolating MSCs from bone marrow, combined with the drastic increase in stiffness matrix elasticity owing to the rigidity of plastic culture dishes used, may initiate a cascade of signalling events that induces these primary cells to undergo differentiation to myofibroblasts in vitro.

Moreover, numerous parameters of culture isolation and expansion conditions on the differentiation capacity of hMSCs were considered when comparing results between different studies. Factors such as the source of bone marrow, isolation technique, the initial plating density, incubation times between passages, culture media employed, type of culture flask and scaffolds used, and exogenous growth factors added, among many other factors, have an enormous impact on the yield, quality and differentiation fate of

hMSCs. The lack of a standardized method to culture hMSCs is especially problematic as slight modifications might lead to completely different cell populations, and thereby hinder the reproducibility of one study to the next (Wagner and Ho, 2007).

The disparity between the results reported in this study compared with other studies could potentially be attributed to the source of bone marrow used, individual patient characteristics and cell passage used for analysis. While the majority of studies obtained their bone marrow aspirates from the iliac crests of normal healthy adult donors, we isolated bone marrow from the sternum of adult donors with various confounding heart diseases. Although MSC are immunologically tolerated, making them a very attractive candidate of allogeneic use, autologous stem cells are still the safest to use in clinical trials. Healthy donors typically are young in age and their bone marrow composition can significantly differ from that of our aging patient population. It is not yet well understood how and whether patient attributes such as age, gender, race, cardiovascular disease risk factors, medication, and co morbidities influence MSCs growth and differentiation. Further, most MSC studies use later cell passages (P4 and higher) for analysis where as in this study, we used early passages (P0-P2). Despite these differences, the strength of this study is that a direct comparison of bone marrow derived hMSCs and ventricular myofibroblasts from patients with heart disease was used, the very same patients that cellular cardiomyoplasty aims to help.

Our study showed that hMSCs isolated from patients with heart disease maintained their *in vitro* differentiation capacity into adipogenic, osteogenic, and chondrogenic lineages throughout serial passages despite their myofibroblast phenotype, a phenomenon that is not observed with human fibroblasts (Pittenger et al., 1999; Wagner

et al., 2005). This suggests that although these cells phenotypically and physiologically behave like myofibroblasts, they are unique in the sense that they still retain proliferative and differentiation properties characteristic of MSCs.

Observed differences in the relative expression of key myofibroblast markers in MSCs between patient samples may potentially be attributed to the heterogeneity of the starting population as colony forming units in the bone marrow represent a mixed population of progenitors at different stages of commitment. Differences in the composition of undifferentiated MSCs, and mature and immature differentiated myofibroblasts during culture are most likely due to variability among the bone marrow composition of each patient. Mature myofibroblasts are characterized by the expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA in more extensively developed and organized stress fibres and by supermature focal adhesions in vitro (Tomasek et al., 2002). Notably, although the level of myofibroblast expression varied between patients and between passages, these markers were consistently expressed in each patient at all passages studied. We suspect that the change in phenotype occurs within days and possibly hours after isolation and culturing, although due to the lengthy time required to culture MSCs to obtain adequate numbers for characterization, we were unable to detect a precise time frame in which this phenotype switch occurs.

Myofibroblasts can sustain a tonic contractile force over prolonged periods of time. This force is generated by contractile stress fibers composed of bundles of actin microfilaments with associated non-muscle myosin and other actin-binding proteins (Tomasek et al., 2002). Treatment of TGF- $\beta$ 1 is known to induce differentiation of protomyofibroblasts to differentiated myofibroblasts in collagen lattices and to induce

collagen synthesis (Roberts et al., 1986). Our data indicate that hMSCs treated with TGF- $\beta$ 1 displayed increased contractility on collagen gels and that this effect may be attributed to an increased expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA (Tomasek et al., 2002). In 2002, Kinner et al. demonstrated for the first time that expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA enabled contraction of human MSCs. They reported a high correlation between  $\alpha$ -SMA content and contractility, and that TGF- $\beta$ 1 treatment up regulated  $\alpha$ -SMA expression in these cells (Kinner et al., 2002).

Using pro-COL1A2 chimeric mice, van Amerongen and colleagues were able to show via β-galactosidase staining that bone marrow derived myofibroblasts expressed collagen I in the heart, and that this expression was confined to the infarct area, thus showing that bone marrow derived myofibroblasts actively participate in scar formation after MI, although their presence was transient (van Amerongen et al., 2008). Similar to their results, data presented herein demonstrates that hMSCs were able to synthesize and secrete collagen I in culture and that these levels were comparable to that of cardiac myofibroblasts. However, significant increase in collagen production when hMSCs were treated with TGF- $\beta$ 1 was not observed. This lack of TGF- $\beta$ 1 responsiveness in collagen I secretion may be attributed to age. In a recent study comparing fibroblasts from young and aged mice (4 and 30-month-old mice respectively), it was reported that fibroblasts derived from older mice under the same culture conditions as young fibroblasts, demonstrated no substantial increase in connective tissue growth factor and collagen type I mRNA expression in response to TGF- $\beta$ 1 (Cieslik et al., 2011). In contrast to the TGF- $\beta$ 1 responsiveness observed with hMSCs plated on collagen gels, this lack of increased collagen secretion with TGF-\beta1 treatment may reflect differences in downstream TGF-\beta1

signaling pathway targets between cell contraction and collagen synthesis. In addition, this discrepancy in TGF- $\beta$ 1 responsiveness might also be accredited to differences in matrix substrate (plastic vs. gel) as studies have shown that matrix elasticity plays a greater role than addition of soluble induction factors in stem cell differentiation (Engler et al., 2006). Cellular tension is modulated by matrix stiffness, with force transmission occurring via focal adhesions (Engler et al., 2006). Associated with the focal adhesion complexes are a number of well-known signaling molecules that act as the mechanotransducers, relaying information about the cell's microenvironment to the cell and ultimately influencing their differentiation fate (Engler et al., 2006). We speculate that the stiffness of culture dishes used to determine collagen synthesis induced a phenotype that is less sensitive to TGF- $\beta$ 1 compared to that of the much softer elasticity of collagen gels used to assess contractility. Moreover, recent evidence suggests that aging and diabetes significantly alter the cellular responses to TGF- $\beta$ 1 (Wu et al., 1999; Broadley et al, 1989).

# 2. Significance of NMMII inhibition on adoptive myofibroblast phenotype and function

Our results show that hMSCS derived from bone marrow, express NMMIIA and IIB, but not IIC. Engler and colleagues reported reduced transcript levels of NMMIIA (to 50%) and IIB (to 8%) in MSCs when chronically treated with 50  $\mu$ M of blebbistatin (Engler et al., 2006). In contrast to their findings, our results demonstrate that chronic treatment of hMSCs with 5 and 10  $\mu$ M of blebbistatin revealed a remarkable dose-dependent increase in NMMIIA, NMMIIB,  $\alpha$ -SMA and vimentin expression, consistent
with an up regulated myofibroblast phenotype. The observed differences may be related to the different chronic blebbistatin doses (5 and 10 µM vs. 50 µM) employed. Since blebbistatin has a half maximal inhibition (IC<sub>50</sub>) value of 5.1 and 1.8  $\mu$ M for NMMIIA and IIB respectively (Limouze et al., 2004), it may be that blebbistatin used at 5 and 10 µM were not sufficiently high enough doses to induce a significant reduction in NMMII expression. In addition, since low dose chronic blebbistatin treatment does not attain maximal NMMII inhibition values, it is possible that the cells may secrete factors or signals that induced an increase in myofibroblast marker expression as a compensatory mechanism. Moreover, since NMMII is a key cytoskeletal motor involved in exerting force through focal adhesions in mechanisms of the matrix-elasticity sensing that drives lineage specification (Engler et al., 2006), it is possible that disruption of this sensing at isolation, relays signals to the cell causing it to adopt this altered phenotype. Interestingly, expression of ED-A fibronectin was decreased with chronic blebbistatin treatment. Fibronectin is an adhesive ECM protein that is involved in cell adhesion, migration, proliferation and differentiation (van der Straaten et al., 2004). It is produced by fibroblasts, endothelial cells, adipocytes and to a lesser extent, by hepatocytes (van der Straaten et al., 2004). Under mechanical stress, ED-A fibronectin and TGF- $\beta$ 1, are known to induce the myofibroblast phenotype through increased expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA and collagen type I expression in fibroblasts (Desmouliere et al., 1993; Rønnov -Jessen and Petersen, 1993; Vyalov et al., 1993; Jarnagin et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 1994; Serini et al., 1998). It has therefore been suggested that ED-A fibronectin is a marker of fibrosis (van der Straaten et al., 2004). Thus, decreased expression of ED-A fibronectin with chronic

blebbistatin treatment may indicate that inhibition of NMMII may play a role in attenuating fibrosis.

Human MSCs plated on collagen gel substrates demonstrated reduced gel contractility when treated with low dose blebbistatin (10  $\mu$ M), but complete contractile inhibition was only obtained with high dose blebbistatin (50  $\mu$ M). Low dose blebbistatin acts by inhibiting the ATPase activity of myosin, but does not inhibit the movement of all actin filaments as less than 100% of the NMMIIs are inhibited at 10  $\mu$ M. Blebbistatin at 50 $\mu$ M, a concentration much higher than the IC<sub>50</sub> is thus needed to inhibit most or all of the myosin interactions with actin filament.

Despite the fact that smooth muscle myosin is more closely related to NMMIIA and IIB, than to any striated muscle myosin heavy chain gene, blebbistatin does not inhibit SMM (Berg et al., 2001). Complete inhibition of gel contractility at 50µM of blebbistatin suggests that the involvement of other myosins, such as smooth muscle myosin, is not involved in the actin-myosin contractility of myofibroblasts, further supporting our results that smooth muscle myosin is not expressed in our cells.

As blebbistatin inhibits all of the NMMII isoforms, the specific contribution of NMMIIA and IIB in reducing gel contractility was tested. Knockdown of NMMIIB with MYH10 siRNA resulted in increased NMMIIA expression, and vice versa. However, NMMIIA expression was much greater in MYH10 knockdown cells than NMMIIB expression in MYH9 knockdown cells. We suggest that this disparity in compensatory NMMII expression may be related to differences in enzyme kinetics as studies have reported that NMMIIB has a higher duty ration than IIA, therefore making it more suitable for structural roles since it can exert tension on actin filaments for a longer length

61

of time without utilizing as much ATP as IIA does (Flynn and Helfman, 2010). Thus it is possible that NMMIIB expression adapts less quickly than NMMIIA expression and hence, would provide insight into why NMMIIA expression was more highly expressed with MYH10 knockdown than NMMIIB expression with MYH9 knockdown.

In contrast to the observed effects of blebbistatin treatment on collagen gel contractility, knockdown of specific NMMII isoforms did not show the same results. It is possible that although we saw greater than 80% knockdown expression in both NMMIIA and IIB, the low level expression of NMMII that remains is sufficient enough to compensate. Moreover, in comparing reduced gel contractility in cells treated with low dose blebbistatin with NMMII expression knockdown, it may be possible that inhibition of NMMII activity is more potent than decreased expression of NMMII in regulating contractility. Another possible confounding effect may be the possible off target actions of blebbistatin that result in complete contractile inhibition.

Contrary to what other studies have reported, we showed that cell viability was preserved with both inhibition and knockdown of NMMII expression, and that cell viability was maintained over a span of 96 hours after post-transfection. This is therefore congruent with the notion that reduction in gel contractility with NMMII inhibition is not due to reduced cell viability.

Taken together, the observations made in this study suggest that NMMII, specifically the NMMIIA and IIB isoforms, may play a role in attenuating the acquired MSC-myofibroblastic contractile function without affecting cell viability and thus, may provide a potential therapeutic target in regulating MSCs differentiation and fibrosis associated with myofibroblasts.

62

## **V. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

In conclusion, we have shown that bone marrow derived hMSCs (under standard culture conditions) demonstrate gene expression profiles that are similar to human CMyfbs and exhibit similar functional characteristics, with respect to collagen synthesis and TGF- $\beta$ 1 induced collagen gel contraction. Moreover, it was also shown that inhibition of NMMII can attenuate the contractile function of these MSC-myofibroblasts. The implications of these findings in regards to therapeutic strategies for cardiac repair are twofold: contribution to cardiac fibrosis and implications for cellular cardiomyoplasty. However, the results reported here must be interpreted with caution. Although hMSCs adopt a myofibroblastic phenotype in culture, we have not shown that (1) these cells can contribute to fibrosis and (2) these cells are unable to further differentiate into functional myocytes both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Thus, we can only continue to speculate that hMSCs are unlikely to further differentiate as others have suggested that the fibroblast is the end-stage lineage of multipotential MSCs (Sarugaser et al., 2009). Additional studies investigating the fibrotic contribution of cultured MSCs and their potential for further differentiation in vivo are warranted.

Intense efforts during the past decade have shown that cellular cardiomyoplasty using stem cell therapy holds great promise as an adjunctive treatment for systolic heart failure. The ultimate goal of stem cell transplantation is formation of new and functional myocardial tissue (Segers and Lee, 2011). The ideal stem cell should be easy to isolate, should have a high survival rate after delivery, and should form contractile and nonarrhythmogenic cardiac tissue (Segers and Lee, 2011). Among the different types of stem cells, MSCs are recognized as the best potential candidates for treatment of cardiac diseases due to their beneficial properties, such as easy isolation, rapid expansion *in vitro*, unique immune-privileged status and rare formation of teratomas (Kumar et al., 2008). Various clinical trials have reported moderate improvement in ventricular function after transplantation of bone marrow derived stem cells. Most studies typically report an increase in left ventricular ejection fraction of only a few percent, usually ranging from 0-15% (Wei et al., 2009). Although these results yield a statistically significant increase in left ventricular ejection fraction, clinically, these numbers reflect a very marginal benefit and do not obtain clinical significance (ejection fraction greater than 50%) (Bhatia et al., 2006). Furthermore, the lack of differentiation of MSCs into functionally integrated cardiomyoctyes remains an obstacle to this effective implantation (van den Borne et al., 2010; Orlic et al., 2001).

The infarcted myocardium is an ischemic and hostile environment to most cells. Regardless of the delivery route, MSC engraftment and retention in the myocardium remains low (Williams and Hare, 2011). Biomaterials can mimic or include naturally occurring ECM and also instruct stem cell function in different ways (Segers and Lee, 2011). For the purpose of cardiac regeneration after MI, biomaterials could be designed with the optimal stiffness for a particular stem cell to engraft, and may contain signals for attachment, proliferation and differentiation (Segers and Lee, 2011). MSC expression of  $\alpha$ -SMA and their ability to contract is important with respect to the adverse effects that  $\alpha$ -SMA-enabled contraction can have if the cells distort scaffolds into which they are seeded or distort newly synthesized matrix *in vivo* in which they are employed for cell therapy (Kinner et al., 2002). Whether the use of MSCs will be beneficial or detrimental to cardiac repair remains controversial. On one hand, it has been shown that bone marrow derived stem cells can contribute to cardiac fibrosis and understanding the mechanisms behind this recruitment of MSCs to the injured heart will prove beneficial to providing novel therapeutic targets. On the other hand, the use of MSC in cellular cardiomyoplasty has shown to be promising, although there are many obstacles left to overcome, such as long term engraftment and differentiation into functional myocytes. The observations reported here underscore the importance of proper selection and characterization of BM-MSCs that are ultimately selected for use in cell therapy. Moreover, whether bone marrow derived MSCs must be kept in an undifferentiated state if they are to adopt a functional cardiac myocyte phenotype upon transplantation warrants further investigation.

## **VI. REFERENCES**

Abe M, Ho CH, Kamm KE, et al. (2003) Different molecular motors mediate plateletderived growth factor and lysophophatidic and acid-stimulated floating collagen matrix contraction. J Biol Chem 278:47707-47712.

Altman GH, Horan RL, Martin I, Farhadi J, Stark PR, et al. (2002) Cell differentiation by mechanical stress. The FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 16: 270-272.

Anderson KR, Sutton MG, Lie JT (1979) Histopathological types of cardiac fibrosis in myocardial disease. J Pathol 128: 79-85.

Ball SG, Shuttleworth AC, Kielty CM (2004) Direct cell contact influences bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell fate. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36: 714-727.

Beltrami AP, Cesselli D, Bergamin N, Marcon P, Rigo S, et al. (2007) Multipotent cells can be generated in vitro from several adult human organs (heart, liver, and bone marrow). Blood 110: 3438-3446.

Beltrami CA, Finato N, Rocco M, Fergulio GA, Pericelli C, et al. (1994) Structural basis of end-stage failure in ischemic cardiomyopathy in humans. Circulation 89: 151-163.

Beningo KA, Dembo M, Kaverina I, Small JV, Wang YL (2001) Nascent focal adhesions are responsible for the generation of strong propulsive forces in migrating fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 153:881-888.

Berg JS, Powell BC, Cheney RE (2001) A millennial myosin census. Mol Biol Cell 12:780-794.

Bhatia RS, Tu JV, Lee DS, Austin PC, Fang J, et al. (2006) Outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction in a population-based study. N Engl J Med 355:260-269.

Bianco P, Robey PG, Simmons PJ (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells: revisiting history, concepts, and assays. Cell stem cell 2: 313-319.

Bieback K, Kern S, Klüter H, Eichler H (2004) Critical parameters for the isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from umbilical cord blood. Stem Cells 22:625-34.

Bond JE, Ho TQ, Selim MA, Hunter CL, Bowers EV, et al. (2010) Temporal spatial expression and function of non-muscle myosin II isoforms IIA and IIB in scar remodeling. Lab Invest 91:499-508.

Boyle AJ, Schulman SP, Hare JM, Oettgen P (2006) Is stem cell therapy ready for patients? Stem Cell Therapy for Cardiac Repair. Ready for the Next Step. Circulation 114: 339-352.

Broadley KN, Aquino AM, Hicks B, Ditesheim JA, McGee GS, et al. (1989) The diabetic rat as an impaired wound healing model: stimulatory effects of transforming growth factor-beta and basic fibroblast growth factor. Biotechnology therapeutics 1: 55-68.

Bucala R, Spiegel LA, Chesney J, Hogan M, Cerami A (1994) Circulating fibrocytes define a new leukocyte subpopulation that mediates tissue repair. Mol Med 1:71-81.

Caplan AI (1991) Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 9: 641-650.

Carlson S, Trial J, Soeller C, Entman ML (2011) Cardiac mesenchymal stem cells contribute to scar formation after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 91:99-107.

Chang HY, Chi JT, Dudoit S, Bondre C, van de Rijn M, et al. (2002) Diversity, topographic differentiation, and positional memory in human fibroblasts. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:12877-12882.

Chen G, Hou Z, Gulbranson DR, Thomson JA (2010) Actin-myosin contractility is responsible for the reduced viability of dissociated human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 7:240-248.

Chen HH, Decot V, Ouyang JP, Stoltz JF, Bensoussan D, et al. (2009) In vitro initial expansion of mesenchymal stem cells is influenced by the culture parameters used in the isolation process. Bio-medical materials and engineering 19: 301-309.

Chen SL, Fang WW, Ye F, Liu YH, Qian J, et al. (2004) Effect on left ventricular function of intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell in patients with acute myocardial infarction. The American journal of cardiology 94: 92-95.

Cieslik KA, Trial J, Entman ML (2011) Defective myofibroblast formation from mesenchymal stem cells in the aging murine heart rescue by activation of the AMPK pathway. Am J Pathol 179:1792-1806.

Conti MA, Even-Ram S, Liu C, Yamada KM, Adelstein RS (2004) Defects in cell adhesion and the visceral endoderm following ablation of nonmuscle myosin heavy chain II-A in mice. J Biol Chem 279:41263-41266.

Covas DT, Panepucci RA, Fontes AM, Silva WA Jr, Orellana MD, et al. (2008) Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells obtained from diverse human tissues share functional properties and gene-expression profile with CD146+ perivascular cells and fibroblasts. Exp Hematol 36:642-654.

Desmoulière A, Geinoz A, Gabbiani F, Gabbiani G (1993) Transforming growth factorbeta 1 induces alpha-smooth muscle actin expression in granulation tissue myofibroblasts and in quiescent and growing cultured fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 122:103-111.

Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, et al. (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8: 315-317.

Donaudy F, Snoeckx R, Pfister M, Zenner HP, Blin N, et al. (2004) Nonmuscle myosin heavy-chain gene MYH14 is expressed in cochlea and mutated in patients affected by autosomal dominant hearing impairment (DFNA4). Am J Hum Genet 74:770-776.

Duan J, Gherghe C, Liu D, Hamlett E, Srikantha L, et al. (2011) Wnt1/βcatenin injury response activates the epicardium and cardiac fibroblasts to promote cardiac repair. EMBO J DOI: 10.1038/emboj.2011.418.

Edgley AJ, Krum H, Kelly DJ (2010) Targeting fibrosis for the treatment of heart failure: a role for transforming growth factor- $\beta$ . Cardiovasc Ther DOI: 10.1111/j.1755-5922.2010.00228.x

Engler AJ, Griffin MA, Sen S, Bonnemann CG, Sweeney HL, et al. (2004) Myotubes differentiate optimally on substrates with tissue-like stiffness: pathological implications for soft or stiff microenvironments. J Cell Biol 166:877-887.

Engler AJ, Sen S, Sweeney HL, Discher DE (2006) Matrix elasticity directs stem cell lineage specification Cell126:677-689.

Evan-Ram S, Doyle AD, Conti MA, Matsumoto K, Adelstein RS, et al. (2007) Myosin IIA regulates cell motility and actomyosin microtubule crosstalk. Nat Cell Biol 9: 299-309.

Eyden B (2008) The myofibroblast: phenotypic characterization as a prerequisite to understanding its functions in translational medicine. J Cell Mol Med 12: 22-37.

Flynn PG, Helfman DM (2010) Non-muscle myosin IIB helps mediate TNF cell death signaling independent of actomyosin contractility (AMC). J Cell Biochem 110:1365-1375.

Friedenstein AJ, Gorskaja JF, Kulagina NN (1976) Fibroblast precursors in normal and irradiated mouse hematopoietic organs. Experimental hematology 4: 267-274.

Gang EJ, Jeong JA, Hong SH, Hwang SH, Kim SW, et al. (2004) Skeletal myogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human umbilical cord blood. Stem Cells 22:617-624.

Golomb E, Ma X, Jana SS, Preston YA, Kawamoto S (2004) Identification and characterization of nonmuscle myosin II-C, a new family member of the myosin II family. J Biol Chem 279;2800-2808.

Hankemeier S, Keus M, Zeichen J, Jagodzinski M, Barkhausen T, et al. (2005) Modulation of proliferation and differentiation of human bone marrow stromal cells by fibroblast growth factor 2: potential implications for tissue engineering of tendons and ligaments. Tissue engineering 11: 41-49.

Hare JM, Traverse JH, Henry TD, Dib N, Strumpf RK, et al. (2009) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation study of intravenous adult human mesenchymal stem cells (prochymal) after acute myocardial infarction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 54: 2277-2286.

Haudek SB, Xia Y, Huebener P, Lee JM, Carlson S, et al. (2006) Bone marrow-derived fibroblast precursors mediate ischemic cardiomyopathy in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103: 18284-18289.

Hinz B, Celetta G, Tomasek JJ, Gabbiani G, Chaponnier C (2001) Alpha-smooth muscle actin expression upregulates fibroblast contractile activity. Mol Biol Cell 12:2730-41.

Hinz B, Gabbiani G (2003) Mechanisms of force generation and transmission by myofibroblasts.Curr Opin Biotechnol 14:538-46

Hou M, Yang KM, Zhang H, Zhu WQ, Duan FJ, et al. (2007) Transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow improves damaged heart function in rats. International journal of cardiology 115: 220-228.

Ivanov AI (2008) Actin motors that drive formation and disassembly of epithelial apical junctions. Front Biosci 13: 6662-6681.

Ivanov AI, Bacher M, Babbin BA, Adelstein RS, Nusrat A, et al. (2007) A unique role for nonmuscle myosin heavy chain IIA in regulation of the epithelial apical junctions. PLoS ONE 2:e658.

Jarnagin WR, Rockey DC, Koteliansky VE, Wang SS, Bissell DM (1994) Expression of variant fibronectins in wound healing: cellular source and biological activity of the EIIIA segment in rat hepatic fibrogenesis. J Cell Bio 127:2037-2048.

Jiang Y, Vaessen B, Lenvik T, Blackstad M, Reyes M, et al. (2002) Multipotent progenitor cells can be isolated from postnatal murine bone marrow, muscle, and brain. Exp Hematol 30:896-904.

Kania G, Blyszczuk P, Stein S, Valaperti A, Germano D, et al. (2009) Heart-Infiltrating Prominin-1+/CD133+ Progenitor Cells Represent the Cellular Source of Transforming Growth Factor {beta}-Mediated Cardiac Fibrosis in Experimental Autoimmune Myocarditis. Circ Res.

Kasper G, Dankert N, Tuischer J, Hoeft M, Gaber T, et al. (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells regulate angiogenesis according to their mechanical environment. Stem Cells 2007 25:903-910

Katritsis DG, Sotiropoulou PA, Karvouni E, Karabinos I, Korovesis S, et al. (2005) Transcoronary transplantation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitors into infarcted human myocardium. Catheterization and cardiovascular interventions: official journal of the Society for Cardiac Angiography & Interventions 65: 321-329.

Katz AM (1995) The cardiomyopathy of overload: an unnatural growth response. European heart journal 16 Suppl O: 110-114.

Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K (2006) Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24:1294-301.

Kim KY, Kovacs M, Kawamoto S, Sellers JR, Adelstein RS (2005) Disease-associated mutations and alternative splicing after the enzymatic and motile activity of nonmuscle myosin II-B and II-C. J Biol Chem 280:22769-22775.

Kinner B, Zaleskas JM, Spector M (2002) Regulation of smooth muscle actin expression and contraction in adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Exp Cell Res 278: 72-83.

Kovács M, Tóth J, Hetényi C, Málnási-Csizmadia A, Sellers JR (2004) Mechanism of blebbistatin inhibition of myosin II. J Biol Chem 279:35557-35563.

Kovács M, Wang F, Hu A, Zhang Y, Sellers JR (2003) Functional divergence of human cytoplasmic myosin II: kinetic characterization of the non-muscle IIA isoform. J Biol Chem 278:38132-38140.

Kumar S, Chanda D, Ponnazhagan S (2008) Therapeutic potential of genetically modified mesenchymal stem cells. Gene therapy 15: 711-715.

Kuznetsov SA, Mankani MH, Gronthos S, Satomura K, Bianco P, et al. (2001) Circulating skeletal stem cells. J Cell Biol. 153:1133-40.

Lecuit T, Lenne PF (2007) Cell surface mechanics and the control of cell shape, tissue patterns and morphogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 8:633-644.

Lee CH, Shah B, Moioli EK, Mao JJ (2010) CTGF directs fibroblast differentiation from human mesenchymal stem/stromal cells and defines connective tissue healing in a rodent injury model. J Clin Invest.

Li W, Ma N, Ong LL, Nesselmann C, Klopsch C, et al. (2007) Bcl-2 engineered MSCs inhibited apoptosis and improved heart function. Stem Cells 25: 2118-2127.

Limouze J, Straight AF, Mitchison T, Sellers JR (2004) Specificity of blebbistatin, an inhibitor of myosin II. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 25:337-341.

Lo CM, Buxton DB, Chua GC, et al. (2004) Nonmuscle myosin IIb is involved in the guidance of fibroblast migration. Mol Biol Cell 15:982-989.

Marini M, Bruschi M, Pecci A, Romagnoli R, Musante L, et al. (2006) Non-muscle myosin heavy chain IIA and IIB interact and co-localize in living cells: relevance for MYH9-related disease. Int J Mol Med 17:729-736.

McBeath R, Pirone DM, Nelson CM, Bhadriraju K, Chen CS (2004) Cell shape, cytoskeletal tension, and RhoA regulate stem cell lineage commitment. Dev Cell 6:483-495.

Meshel AS, Wei Q, Adelstein RS, Sheetz MP (2005) Basic mechanism of threedimensional collagen fibre transport by fibroblasts. Nat Cell Biol 7:157-164.

Mias C, Lairez O, Trouche E, Roncalli J, Calise D, et al. (2009) Mesenchymal stem cells promote matrix metalloproteinase secretion by cardiac fibroblasts and reduce cardiac ventricular fibrosis after myocardial infarction. Stem Cells 27: 2734-2743

Midwood KS, Williams LV, Schwarzbauer JE (2004) Tissue repair and the dynamics of the extracellular matrix. Int J Biochem Cell Bio 6: 1031-1037.

Mollmann H, Nef HM, Kostin S, von KC, Pilz I, et al. (2006) Bone marrow-derived cells contribute to infarct remodelling. Cardiovasc Res 71: 661-671.

Montell DJ (2008) Morphogenetic cell movements: Diversity from modular mechanical properties. Science 322:1502-1505.

Moreau JE, Chen J, Bramono DS, Volloch V, Chernoff H, et al. (2005) Growth factor induced fibroblast differentiation from human bone marrow stromal cells in vitro. Journal

of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 23: 164-174.

Muraglia A, Cancedda R, Quarto R (2000) Clonal mesenchymal progenitors from human bone marrow differentiate in vitro according to a hierarchical model. Journal of cell science 113 (Pt 7): 1161-1166.

Nesselmann C, Ma N, Bieback K, Wagner W, Ho A, et al. (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells and cardiac repair. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine 12: 1795-1810.

Noth U, Schupp K, Heymer A, Kall S, Jakob F, et al. (2005) Anterior cruciate ligament constructs fabricated from human mesenchymal stem cells in a collagen type I hydrogel. Cytotherapy 7: 447-455.

Ohgushi M, Matsumura M, Eiraku M, Murakami K, Aramaki T. et al. (2010) Molecular pathway and cell state responsible for dissociation-induced apoptosis in human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 7:225-239.

Okeyo KO, Adachi T, Sunaga J, Hojo M (2008) Actomyosin contractility spatioetemporally regulates actin network dynamics in migrating cells. J Biomech 42:2540-2548.

Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, et al. (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410: 701-705.

Pevsner-Fischer M, Levin S, Zipori D (2011) The origins of mesenchymal stromal cell heterogeneity. Stem Cell Rev 7:560-568.

Phinney DG, Kopen G, Isaacson RL, Prockop DJ (1999) Plastic adherent stromal cells from the bone marrow of commonly used strains of inbred mice: variations in yield, growth, and differentiation. Journal of cellular biochemistry 72: 570-585.

Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, Jaiswal RK, Douglas R, et al. (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science 284: 143-147.

Pittenger MF, Mosca JD, McIntosh KR (2000) Human mesenchymal stem cells: progenitor cells for cartilage, bone, fat and stroma. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 251: 3-11.

Porter KE, Turner NA (2009) Cardiac fibroblasts: at the heart of myocardial remodeling. Pharmacol Ther 123: 255-278.

Prockop DJ, Kivirikko KI (1995) Collagens: molecular biology, diseases, and potentials for therapy. Annual review of biochemistry 64: 403-434.

Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, et al. (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:14022-14027.

Quintin S, Gally C, Labouesse M (2008) Epithelial morphogenesis in embryos: Asymmetries, motors and brakes. Trends Genet 24:221-230.

Roberts AB, Sporn MB, Assoian RK, Smith JM, Roche NS, et al. (1986) Transforming growth factor type beta: rapid induction of fibrosis and angiogenesis in vivo and stimulation of collagen formation in vitro. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 83: 4167-4171.

Rohr S (2011) Cardiac fibroblasts in cell culture systems: myofibroblasts all along? J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 57:389-399.

Rønnov-Jessen L, Petersen OW (1993) Induction of alpha-smooth muscle actin by transforming growth factor-beta 1 in quiescent human breast gland fibroblasts. Implications for myofibroblast generation in breast neoplasia. Lab Invest 68:696-707.

Rosenfeld SS, Xing J, Chen LQ, Sweeney HL (2003) Myosin IIB is unconventionally conventional. J Biol Chem 278:27449-27455.

Saitoh T, Takemura S, Ueda K, et al. (2001) Differential localization of non-muscle myosin II isoforms and phosphorylated regulatory light chains in human MRC-5 fibroblasts. FEBS Lett 509:365-369.

Sakaguchi Y, Sekiya I, Yagishita K, Muneta T (2005) Comparison of human stem cells derived from various mesenchymal tissues: superiority of synovium as a cell source. Arthritis and Rheum 52:2521-2529.

Sandquist JC, Swenson KI, Demali KA, et al. (2006) Rho kinase differentially regulates phosphorylation of nonmuscle myosin II isoforms A and B during cell rounding and migration. J Biol Chem 281:35873-35883.

Sarugaser R, Hanoun L, Keating A, Stanford WL, Davies JE (2009) Human mesenchymal stem cells self-renew and differentiate according to a deterministic hierarchy. PLoS One 4:e6498.

Schallmoser K, Bartmann C, Rohde E, Bork S, Guelly C, et al. (2010) Replicative sensescence-associated gene expression changes in mesenchymal stromal cells are similar under different culture conditions. Haematologica 95:867-874.

Schuleri KH, Boyle AJ, Hare JM (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells for cardiac regenerative therapy. Handbook of experimental pharmacology: 195-218.

Schurch W, Seemayer TA, Hinz B, Gabbiana G (2007) Myofibroblast. In: Mills, S.E. (Ed.), Histology for Pathologists. Lippincott-Williams & Wilkins Pub., Philadelphia, USA, pp. 123-164.

Segers VF, Lee RT (2011) Biomaterials to enhance stem cell function in the heart. Circ Res 109:910-922.

Sekiya I, Larson BL, Smith JR, Pochampally R, Cui JG, et al. (2002) Expansion of human adult stem cells from bone marrow stroma: conditions that maximize the yields of early progenitors and evaluate their quality. Stem Cells 20: 530-541.

Sellers JR, Knight PJ (2007) Folding and regulation in myosins II and V. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 28:363-370.

Serini G, Bochaton-Piallat ML, Ropraz P, Geinoz A, Borsi L, et al. (1998) The fibronectin domain ED-A is crucial for myofibroblastic phenotype induction by transforming growth factor-beta1. J Cell Biol 142:873-881.

Silva GV, Litovsky S, Assad JA, Sousa AL, Martin BJ, et al. (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells differentiate into an endothelial phenotype, enhance vascular density, and improve heart function in a canine chronic ischemia model. Circulation 111:150-156.

Simons M, Wang M, McBride OW, Kawamoto S, Yamakawa K, et al (1991) Human nonmuscle myosin heavy chains are encoded by two genes located on different chromosomes. Circ Res 69: 530-539.

Smith PK, Krohn RI, Hermanson GT, Mallia AK, Gartner FH, et al. (1985) Measurement of protein using bicinchoninic acid. Anal Biochem 150:76-85.

Sopel MJ, Rosin NL, Lee TD, Legare JF (2011) Myocardial fibrosis in response to Angiotensin II is preceded by the recruitment of mesenchymal progenitor cells. Lab Invest 91: 565-578.

Straight AF, Cheung A, Limouze J, Chen I, Westwood NJ, et al. (2003) Dissecting temporal and spatial control of cytokinesis with a myosin II Inhibitor. Science 299:1743-1747.

Swynghedauw B (1999) Molecular mechanisms of myocardial remodeling. Physiol Rev 79: 215-262.

Tamada M, Sheetz MP, Sawada Y (2004) Activation of a signalling cascade by cytoskeleton stretch. Dev Cell 7: 709-718.

Toma C, Pittenger MF, Cahill KS, Bryne BJ, Kessler PD (2002) Human mesenchymal stem cells differentiate to a cardiomyocyte phenotype in the adult murine heart. Circulation 105:93-98.

Tomasek JJ, Gabbiani G, Hinz B, Chaponnier C, Brown RA (2002) Myofibroblasts and mechano-regulation of connective tissue remodelling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 3: 349-363.

Tse JR, Engler AJ (2011) Stiffness gradients mimicking in vivo tissue variation regulate mesenchymal stem cell fate. PLoS ONE 6: e15978.

Tullio AN, Accili D, Ferrans VJ, Yu ZX, Takeda K, et al (1997) Nonmuscle myosin II-B is required for normal development of the mouse heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 94:12407-12412.

Tyska MJ, Warshaw DM (2002) The myosin power stroke. Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 51:1-15.

van Amerongen MJ, Bou-Gharios G, Popa E, van Ark J, Petersen AH, et al. (2008) Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute functionally to scar formation after myocardial infarction. J Pathol 214: 377-386.

van den Borne SW, Diez J, Blankesteijn WM, Verjans J, Hofstra L, et al. (2010) Myocardial remodeling after infarction: the role of myofibroblasts. Nat Rev Cardiol 7: 30-37.

van der Straaten HM, Canninga-van Dijk MR, Verdonck LF, Castigliego D, Borst HP, et al. (2004) Extra-domain-A fibronectin: a new marker of fibrosis in cutaneous graftversus-host disease. J Invest Dermatol 123:1057-1062.

Van Linthout S, Stamm Ch, Schultheiss HP, Tschöpe C. (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells and inflammatory cardiomyopathy: cardiac homing and beyond. Cardiol Res Pract 757154.

Vicente-Manzanares M, Ma X, Adelstein RS, Horwitz AR (2009) Non-muscle myosin II takes center stage in cell adhesion and migration. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:778-790.

Vyalov SL, Gabbiani G, Kapanci Y (1993) Rat alveolar myofibroblasts acquire alphasmooth muscle actin expression during bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis. Am J Pathol 143:1754-1765.

Wagner W, Feldmann RE Jr, Seckinger A, Maurer MH, Wein F, et al. (2006) The heterogeneity of human mesenchymal stem cell preparations--evidence from simultaneous analysis of proteomes and transcriptomes. Exp Hematol 34:536-548.

Wagner W, Ho AD (2007) Mesenchymal stem cell preparations--comparing apples and oranges. Stem cell reviews 3: 239-248.

Wagner W, Wein F, Seckinger A, Frankhauser M, Wirkner U, et al. (2005) Comparative characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood. Experimental hematology 33: 1402-1416.

Wakitani S, Saito T, Caplan AI. (1995) Myogenic cells derived from rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells exposed to 5-azacytidine. Muscle Nerv 18:1417-1126.

Walker A, Su H, Conti MA, Harb N, Adelstein RS, et al. (2010) Non-muscle myosin II regulates survival threshold of pluripotent stem cells. Nat Commun 1:71. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1074.

Wang N, Tolic-Norrelykke IM, Chen J, Mijailovich SM, Butler JP, et al. (2002) Cell prestress. I. Stiffness and prestress are closely associated in adherent contractile cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 282: C606-616.

Weber KT, Sun Y, Tyagi SC, Cleutjens JP (1994) Collagen network of the myocardium: function, structural remodeling and regulatory mechanisms. J Mol Cell Cardiol 26: 279-292.

Wei HM, Wong P, Hsu LF, Shim W (2009) Human bone marrow-derived adult stem cells for post-myocardial infarction cardiac repair: current status and future directions. Singapore medical journal 50: 935-942.

Williams AR, Hare JM (2011) Mesenchymal stem cells: biology, pathophysiology, translational findings, and therapeutic implications for cardiac disease. Circ Res 109: 923-940.

Wolk R, Cobbe SM, Hicks MN, Kane KA (1999) Functional, structural, and dynamic basis of electrical heterogeneity in healthy and diseased cardiac muscle: Implications for arrythmogenesis and anti-arrhymic drug therapy. Pharmacol Ther 84: 207-231.

Woodbury D, Schwarz EJ, Prockop DJ, Black IB (2000) Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. J Neurosci Res 61:364-370.

Wu L, Xia YP, Roth SI, Gruskin E, Mustoe TA (1999) Transforming growth factor-beta1 fails to stimulate wound healing and impairs its signal transduction in an aged ischemic ulcer model: importance of oxygen and age. The American journal of pathology 154: 301-309.

Wylie SR, Chantler PD (2001) Separate but linked functions of conventional myosins modulate adhesion and neurite outgrowth. Nat Cell Biol 3:88-92.

Wylie SR, Wu PJ, Patel H, et al. (1998) A conventional myosin motor drives neurite outgrowth. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:12967-12972.

Zeisberg EM, Tarnavski O, Zeisberg M, Dorfman AL, McMullen JR, et al. (2007) Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition contributes to cardiac fibrosis. Nat Med 13:952-961.

Zhang K, Rekhter MD, Gordon D, Phan SH (1994) Myofibroblasts and their role in lung collagen gene expression during pulmonary fibrosis. A combined immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization study. Am J Pathol 145:114-1125.

Zuk PA, Zhu M, Mizuno H, Huang J, Futrell JW, et al. (2001) Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: implications for cell-based therapies. Tissue Eng. 7:211-28.